

Progress in Neurobiology 65 (2001) 107-134



www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio

P2X receptors in peripheral neurons

Philip M. Dunn, Yu Zhong, Geoffrey Burnstock *

Autonomic Neuroscience Institute, Royal Free and University College Medical School, Rowland Hill Street, London NW3 2PF, UK

Received 15 November 2000; accepted 13 March 2001

Abstract

P2X receptors are a family of ligand-gated ion channels, activated by extracellular ATP. The seven subunits cloned ($P2X_{1-7}$) can assemble to form homomeric and heteromeric receptors. Peripheral neurons of neural crest origin (e.g. those in dorsal root, trigeminal, sympathetic and enteric ganglia) and placodal origin (e.g. those in nodose and petrosal ganglia) express mRNAs for multiple P2X subunits. In this review, we summarize the molecular biological, electrophysiological and immunohistochemical evidence for P2X receptor subunits in sensory, sympathetic, parasympathetic, pelvic and myenteric neurons and adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. We consider the pharmacological properties of these native P2X receptors and their physiological roles. The responses of peripheral neurons to ATP show considerable heterogeneity between cells in the same ganglia, between ganglia and between species. Nevertheless, these responses can all be accounted for by the presence of P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits, giving rise to varying proportions of homomeric and heteromeric receptors. While dorsal root ganglion neurons express predominantly P2X₃ and rat sympathetic neurons express mainly P2X₂ receptors are important for synaptic transmission in enteric ganglia, although their roles in sympathetic and parasympathetic ganglia are less clear. Their presence on sensory neurons is essential for some processes including detection of filling of the urinary bladder. The regulation of P2X receptor expression in development and in pathological conditions, along with the interactions between purinergic and other signalling systems, may reveal further physiological roles for P2X receptors in autonomic and sensory ganglia. © 2001 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	109
	1.1.	Discovery of purinergic receptors.	109
	1.2.	Structure of P2X receptors	109
	1.3.	Properties of recombinant P2X receptors	110
	1.4.	Neuronal responses to purines	111
	1.5.	Embryology of peripheral neurons	111
2.	Sense	bry neurons	112
	2.1.	Introduction.	112
	2.2.	Responses to P2X agonists	112

Abbreviations: αβ-meATP, α,β-methylene ATP; βγ-me-D-ATP, β,γ-methylene-D-ATP; βγ-me-L-ATP, β,γ-methylene-L-ATP; ACh, acetylcholine; Ap4A, diadenosine 5',5^m-P¹,P⁴-tetraphosphate; Ap5A, diadenosine 5',5^m-P¹,P⁵-pentaphosphate; ATP, adenosine 5'-triphosphate; ATPγS, adenosine 5'-O-(3-thiotriphosphate); BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; BzATP, 2',3'-O-(4-benzoylbenzoyl)-ATP; cDNA, complimentary deoxyribose nucleic acid; CNS, central nervous system; DRG, dorsal root ganglion; EPSPs, excitatory postsynaptic potentials; fEPSPs, fast excitatory postsynaptic potentials; GABA, γ-aminobutyric acid; GDNF, glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor; IB4, isolectin B4; Ip5I, diinosine pentaphosphate; 2-meSATP, 2-methylthio ATP; MNV, trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus; MPG, major pelvic ganglion; mRNA, messenger ribonucleic acid; nACh, nicotinic acetylcholine; NMDA, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate; P5P, pyridoxal-5-phosphate; PPADS, pyridoxalphosphate-6-azophenyl-2',4'-disulfonic acid; RT-PCR, reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction; SCG, superior cervical ganglion; TNP-ATP, 2',3'-O-trinitrophenyl-ATP; UTP, uridine 5'-triphosphate; VPG, vesical parasympathetic ganglion; YO-PRO-1, 4-[(3-methyl-2(3*H*)-benzoxazolylidene) methyl]-1-[3-(trimethylammino) propyl]-quinolinium diiodide; -/-, null mutant; +/+, wild type.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +44-20-78302948; fax: +44-20-78302949.

E-mail address: g.burnstock@ucl.ac.uk (G. Burnstock).

	2.3.	 2.2.1. Actions of agonists on cell bodies	112 112 113 113
		2.3.1. Molecular biology	113 114
		2.3.3. Functional studies.	115
		2.3.3.1. Spectrum of response phenotype	115
		2.3.3.2. Pharmacology—transient responses	116
		2.3.3.3. Pharmacology—persistent responses	117
		2.3.3.4. Heterogeneity of P2X receptors in sensory neurons	118
		2.3.3.5. Difference between nociceptors/non-nociceptors	119
		2.3.3.6. Species differences.	119
	2.4.	Physiological roles	119
		2.4.1. General aspects	119
	2.5	2.4.2. Transgenic studies.	120
	2.3.	Summary	120
3	Symi	pathetic and parasympathetic neurons	121
5.	3 J	Introduction	121
	3.2	Sympathetic neurons	121
	0.2.	3.1. Immunohistochemistry	121
		3.2.2. Molecular biology.	121
		3.2.3. Pharmacology	121
	3.3.	Parasympathetic neurons	123
		3.3.1. Immunohistochemistry and molecular biology	123
		3.3.2. Pharmacology	123
	3.4.	Pelvic ganglion neurons	123
		3.4.1. Immunohistochemistry	123
		3.4.2. Molecular biology	124
		3.4.3. Pharmacology	124
	3.5.		124
		3.5.1. Immunohistochemistry	124
		3.5.2. Molecular biology	124
	26	S.S.S. Pharmacology	124
	5.0. 3 7		125
	5.7.		123
4.	Ente	ric neurons	125
	4.1.	Immunohistochemistry.	125
	4.2.	Molecular biology	125
	4.5.	Pharmacology	125
	4.4. 15	Summary	120
	ч.э.	Summary	120
5	Conc	luding comments	126
5.	5.1.	Interaction with other receptors	126
		5.1.1. Interaction with metabotropic receptors	126
		5.1.2. Interaction with nACh receptors	126
	5.2.	Plasticity and regulation	127
	5.3.	Developmental aspects	127
	5.4.	Summary	127
	Ackr	nowledgements	129
	Refe	rences	129

1. Introduction

Neurons of the peripheral nervous system have many roles including conducting sensory information from peripheral organs, relaying commands from the central nervous system to the periphery, and controlling visceral organs. Among peripheral neurons, sensory neurons of the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) share with neurons of the sympathetic, parasympathetic and enteric ganglia, along with adrenomedullary chromaffin cells a common embryological origin in the neural crest. In contrast, cranial sensory neurons are derived from the placodes. While these sensory and autonomic neurons exhibit some common properties, they also show very diverse phenotypes commensurate with their diverse physiological roles. In this article, we examine the considerable and ever increasing information on the P2X receptors present on neurons of sensory, sympathetic, parasympathetic and enteric ganglia, as well as adrenomedullary chromaffin cells.

1.1. Discovery of purinergic receptors

As long ago as 1929, Drury and Szent-Gyorgyi had demonstrated that adenine compounds had potent extracellular actions (Drury and Szent-Györgyi, 1929), and in the 1950s, Holton demonstrated the release of ATP from nerve terminals (Holton, 1959). However, it was not until 1970 that Burnstock and his colleagues suggested that ATP or a related nucleotide might be a neurotransmitter released by non-adrenergic noncholinergic neurons in the gut (Burnstock et al., 1970; Burnstock, 1972). Implicit in that proposal was the existence of specific purinergic receptors present in the post-junctional cell membrane.

Subsequent pharmacological studies, comparing agonist profiles in different tissues led to the division of these purinergic receptors first into P1 and P2 (Burnstock, 1978) and then subdivision of P2 into P2X and P2Y (Burnstock and Kennedy, 1985) subtypes. Other apparently distinct nucleotide receptors including $P2_{z}$, $P2_{U}$ and $P2_{T}$ were subsequently identified before molecular cloning techniques brought about a rationalization of nucleotide receptor classification (see Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1994; Ralevic and Burnstock, 1998; North and Surprenant, 2000). However, the heteromeric assembly of subunits still complicates the characterization of native receptors. There are now two major P2 receptor families: P2Y receptors that are members of the G protein-coupled receptor superfamily and P2X receptors that are ligand-gated ion channels.

1.2. Structure of P2X receptors

To date, seven mammalian P2X receptor subunits $(P2X_1-P2X_7)$ have been identified by molecular cloning

(see Table 1; Buell et al., 1996a). In addition, an apparently distinct member of this family had been identified in the chicken and provisionally named $cP2X_8$ (Bo et al., 2000). The P2X subunits all share the same general structure (Fig. 1), having intracellular N-and C-termini, two membrane-spanning domains and a large extracellular loop containing 10 conserved cysteine residues. While the intracellular N-termini are of similar length, there is considerable variability in the length of the C-terminus from 30 residues in $P2X_6$ to 240 amino acids in $P2X_7$ (for reviews, see Buell et al., 1996a; MacKenzie et al., 1999).

Like all other ligand-gated ion channels, functional P2X receptors are formed by the assembly of a number of subunits. These may be identical, giving rise to homo-multimeric receptors, or non-identical forming hetero-oligomers. The number of subunits present in a P2X receptor is thought to be either three (Nicke et al., 1998; Stoop et al., 1999) or four (Kim et al., 1997; Ding and Sachs, 2000). However, the rules governing assembly are still poorly understood. Co-immunoprecipitation studies using human embryonic kidney cells (HEK) indicate that while the $P2X_7$ subunit is unlikely to assemble with other P2X subunits, P2X₆ is unlikely to form homo-multimers. Others such as $P2X_2$ and $P2X_5$ will readily heteropolymerize with most members of the P2X family (Torres et al., 1999; see Table 2). Thus, from these seven subunits, even if one assumes that all the subunits in the receptor must be compatible, there could be 33 distinct trimeric or 55 tetrameric receptors. However, even if all these possibilities exist, whether they can be distinguished by pharmacological, biophysical or other techniques is another matter. It is also possible that different heteropolymerization may occur in other cell types where different auxiliary proteins or processing are present. An additional level of complexity is generated by the existence of spliced variants of many of the P2X receptor subunits, which may produce receptors with modified properties (Brändle et al., 1997; Townsend-Nicholson et al., 1999; Chen et al., 2000), thus potentially producing even more distinct receptors.

Table 1							
Tissues from	which	P2X	receptor	subunits	were	first	cloned

Receptor	Tissue first cloned from	Reference
P2X ₁	Vas deferens	Valera et al., 1994
P2X ₂	Phaeochromocytoma cells (PC12)	Brake et al., 1994
P2X ₃	Dorsal root ganglion	Chen et al., 1995
P2X ₄	Brain (hippocampus)	Bo et al., 1995
P2X ₅	Coeliac ganglion	Collo et al., 1996
P2X ₆	Superior cervical ganglion	Collo et al., 1996
P2X ₇	Superior cervical ganglion/brain (medial habenula)	Surprenant et al., 1996



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of a P2X receptor subunit, having intracellular N- and C-termini, two transmembrane spanning domains (M1 and M2) and a large extracellular loop containing 10 conserved cysteine residues, which may form disulphide bonds.

1.3. Properties of recombinant P2X receptors

The seven homomeric P2X receptors, when studied in heterologous expression systems, exhibit different but overlapping properties in terms of agonist and antagonist sensitivities and rates of desensitization (see Table 3). Thus, P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors are activated by α,β -methylene ATP ($\alpha\beta$ -meATP), while P2X₂ is not. P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors desensitize rapidly ($\tau \le 1$ s) while P2X₂ receptors desensitize slowly ($\tau > 10$ s). Although the detailed mechanisms involved in the desensitization of P2X receptors have yet to be elucidated, it is clear that the rate of desensitization can be modified under some conditions, for example by phosphorylation (Boue-Grabot et al., 2000) or changes in the cytoskeleton (Parker, 1998). Consequently, caution should be exercised in its use for receptor characterization.

An interesting property of some P2X receptors, which was first described for $P2X_7$, is the ability to enable molecules up to 900 Da to enter the cell (Surprenant et al., 1996). While this has been attributed to the dilation of the $P2X_7$ ion channel (Virginio et al., 1999), an alternative explanation is that activation of the $P2X_7$ receptor leads to the opening of the same, large-diameter pore, which is opened by maitotoxin (Schilling et al., 1999). A similar increase in membrane permeability has now been reported to occur as a result of activating some neuronal P2X receptors (Virginio et al., 1999).

The expression of some pairs of P2X receptor subunits can give rise to the formation of receptors with novel pharmacological properties. Thus, coexpression of P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits produces a receptor that responds to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP (property of P2X₃) with a slowly desensitizing response (property of P2X₂) (Lewis et al., 1995). Other functional heteromeric receptors so far identified are P2X_{4/6} (Lê et al., 1998), P2X_{1/5} (Torres et al., 1998) and P2X_{2/6} (King et al., 2000).

Table 2

P2X receptor subunit coassembly determined by co-immunoprecipitation (from Torres et al., 1999)^a

	$P2X_1$	P2X ₂	P2X ₃	$P2X_4$	P2X ₅	P2X ₆	P2X ₇
$P2X_1$	+	+	+	_	+ + ^b	+	_
$P2X_2$		+	$++^{c}$	_	+	$+ + {}^{d}$	_
$P2X_3$			+	_	+	_	_
P2X ₄				+	+	$++^{e}$	_
$P2X_5$					+	+	_
$P2X_6$						_	_
P2X ₇							+

 $^{\rm a}$ + subunits coprecipitate; ++ coassembly demonstrated functionally; - subunits do not coprecipitate.

^b Torres et al., 1998.

^c Lewis et al., 1995.

^d King et al., 2000.

^e Lê et al., 1998.

Table 3						
General	properties	of	recombinant	rat	P2X	receptors ^a

	Kinetics		Agonist	Antagonist			Modulator		
	Activation	Desensitization	αβ-MeATP EC ₅₀	Suramin IC ₅₀	TNP-ATP IC ₅₀	Ip5I ^b IC ₅₀	H ⁺	Zn ^{2+c}	Ivermectin ^d EC ₅₀
P2X ₁ P2X ₂ P2X ₃ P2X ₄	Fast Fast Fast Biphasic ^e	Fast Slow Fast Moderately slow	$\begin{array}{l} l{-}3 \ \mu M \\ {>} 100 \ \mu M \\ l \ \mu M \\ {>} 100 \ \mu M \end{array}$	1 μM 10 μM 3 μM >300 μM	6 nM 1 μM 1 nM 15 μM	3 nM Inactive 3 μM Increase EC ₅₀ 2 nM	Inhibition Potentiation Inhibition Inhibition	Increase Increase (<10 μM) Decrease	No effect No effect Increase ~250 nM
$\begin{array}{c} P2X_{5} \\ P2X_{7} \\ P2X_{2/3} \\ P2X_{1/5} \\ P2X_{4/6} \\ P2X_{2/6} \\ \end{array}$	Fast Biphasic ^g Fast Fast Fast Biphasic	Slow None Slow Biphasic Moderately slow Biphasic	>> 100 μM >> 300 μM 1 μM 5 μM 30 μM Inactive	4 μM ~ 500 μM - - 6 μM	- > 30 μM 11 nM ^h ~ 200 nM -	- Inactive - -	- Inhibition Potentiation Inhibition ⁱ Inhibition (inhibition ph < 6.5) Inhibition (3 μ M)	Decrease - - Increase (10 μM) Increase	– No effect – Increase

^a For more details and further references, see North and Surprenant (2000) and Khakh et al. (2001). Only additional references are listed here. ^b See King et al. (1999) and Dunn et al. (2000).

^c Effect of Zn^{2+} , without preincubation.

^d See Khakh et al. (1999a).

^e See Khakh et al. (1999b).

^f See Wildman et al. (1999).

^g See Nuttle and Dubyak (1994).

h See Lin et al. (2001)

^h See Liu et al. (2001).

ⁱ Inhibition by either lowering or raising extracellular pH.

^j See King et al. (2000).

1.4. Neuronal responses to purines

As long ago as 1954, Feldberg and Sherwood demonstrated profound effects of intracerebroventricular injection of ATP, including ataxia and a tendency to sleep (Feldberg and Sherwood, 1954). Numerous subsequent studies have demonstrated biochemical and electrophysiological effects of purines on the central nervous system (CNS) including excitation of neurons in the chemoreceptor trigger zone (Borison et al., 1975) and the cerebral cortex (Phillis and Edstrom, 1976; for reviews, see Burnstock, 1977, 1997). Synaptic transmission in the brain, mediated by ATP, was first observed in the medial habenula (Edwards et al., 1992) and has now been detected in a number of other brain areas (Nieber et al., 1997; Pankratov et al., 1999).

The earliest report of an effect of ATP on autonomic ganglia was in 1948, when Feldberg and Hebb demonstrated that intra-arterial injection of ATP excited neurons in the cat superior cervical ganglion (SCG) (Feldberg and Hebb, 1948). Later work from de Groat's laboratory showed that in the cat vesical parasympathetic ganglia and SCG, purines inhibited synaptic transmission through P_1 receptors, but high doses of ATP depolarized and excited the post-ganglionic neurons (Theobald and de Groat, 1977, 1989).

The earliest intracellular recordings of an action of ATP on neurons were obtained in frog sympathetic ganglia. However, here, ATP produced a depolarization through a reduction in K^+ conductance (Siggins et al., 1977; Akasu et al., 1983), which was probably mediated through P2Y receptors.

In 1983, Jahr and Jessell, using intracellular recordings from cultured neurons, demonstrated that ATP could excite DRG neurons and some neurons from the dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Jahr and Jessell, 1983). These responses were associated with an increase in membrane conductance, which we now know to be due to the activation of P2X receptors.

1.5. Embryology of peripheral neurons

During early embryological development, the neural ectoderm folds to form the neural tube. Cells in the overlying ectoderm (the neural crest) then migrate within the ectoderm and into the mesoderm. The cells that follow this latter pathway differentiate and mature to become glial cells and neurons. Some become primary afferent neurons of the DRG, while others become the post-ganglionic neurons of the sympathetic and parasympathetic ganglia. A third group of cells go on to form the enteric nervous system. One group of potential sympathetic neurons become surrounded by developing adrenal cortical cells and develop into adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. The sensory neurons of cranial nerves, including those of nodose, petrosal and trigeminal ganglia, however, are derived partly or entirely from the neural placodes (Lindsay, 1996).

In view of their common embryological origins, it is perhaps not surprising that peripheral neurons and chromaffin cells possess some common properties, e.g. N-type calcium channels (Gross and Macdonald, 1987; Bossu et al., 1991; Zhu and Ikeda, 1993) and GABA_A receptors (Adams and Brown, 1975; Bormann and Clapham, 1985; White, 1990). However, in keeping with their diverse roles, there are also many differences between them, e.g. only a distinct subpopulation of primary sensory afferents express the heat sensing vanilloid receptor (VR₁; Guo et al., 1999).

In the last few years, there has been a dramatic increase in our understanding of P2X receptors at the molecular level, and the discovery of new pharmacological tools with which to study them. In addition, demonstration of the coexistence of multiple P2X receptor subtypes in single neurons (Thomas et al., 1998; Grubb and Evans, 1999; Zhong et al., 2000a) and interspecies differences (Khakh et al., 1995; Zhong et al., 2000a,b) suggest a reappraisal of our knowledge of P2X receptors in peripheral neurons could be valuable.

2. Sensory neurons

2.1. Introduction

Since the early work by Krishtal et al. (1983) and Jahr and Jessell (1983), demonstrating a cation conductance activated by extracellular ATP in sensory neurons, there have been many additional reports characterizing the native P2X receptors in sensory neurons, including those from DRG, trigeminal, nodose, petrosal ganglia and the trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus (MNV). DRG and trigeminal ganglia contain primary somatosensory neurons, receiving nociceptive, mechanical and proprioceptive inputs. Nodose and petrosal ganglia, however, contain cell bodies of afferents to visceral organs (Lindsay, 1996). Although the MNV is located in the CNS, it contains cell bodies of sensory primary afferent neurons, which relay exclusively proprioceptive information (Liem et al., 1991). Thus, functionally, it is similar to peripheral sensory ganglia and is therefore included in this review. Primary afferent neurons display modality specific neurotrophin dependence in their development (Snider, 1994; Davies, 1996).

Thus, during the phase of naturally occurring neuronal cell death during development, the nociceptors in DRG and trigeminal ganglia display nerve growth factor dependence. In contrast, cranial sensory neurons depend on brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) for survival, while proprioceptors (e.g. those in DRG and MNV) are dependent on neurotrophin-3 and BDNF (Snider, 1994; Davies, 1996). Using pharmacological, immunohistochemical and molecular biological tools, rapid progress has been made in recent years concerning the nature of the endogenous P2X receptors in sensory neurons. These studies have investigated not only the cell bodies, but also the peripheral and central terminals. More importantly, the physiological roles of P2X receptors in the afferent pathways are becoming clear (see Section 2.4; Burnstock, 2000).

2.2. Responses to P2X agonists

2.2.1. Actions of agonists on cell bodies

P2X receptors on the cell bodies of sensory neurons have been studied extensively using voltage-clamp recordings from dissociated neurons of DRG (Bean et al., 1990; Bouvier et al., 1991; Robertson et al., 1996; Rae et al., 1998; Burgard et al., 1999; Grubb and Evans, 1999; Li et al., 1999; Ueno et al., 1999; Petruska et al., 2000a,b,c,d), trigeminal ganglia (Cook et al., 1997), nodose ganglia (Li et al., 1993; Khakh et al., 1995; Lewis et al., 1995; Thomas et al., 1998), petrosal ganglia (Zhang et al., 2000) and the MNV (Cook et al., 1997; Khakh et al., 1997; Patel et al., 2001).

Rapid application of ATP to acutely dissociated or cultured sensory neurons evokes action potentials and, under voltage clamp, a fast-activating (<10 ms) inward current. The activation kinetics depend on the agonist concentration, and the currents decay rapidly when ATP is removed (Bean, 1990; Khakh et al., 1995). These currents show strong inward rectification and are non-selective for the cations Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and K⁺. The activation of P2X receptors results in depolarization of membrane potential and an increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration that is dependent on the external calcium concentration and on the magnitude of the ATP-induced current response (Bean et al., 1990; Bouvier et al., 1991). The ion selectivity and single channel properties of these receptors have been reviewed elsewhere (Evans and Surprenant, 1996). During a longer ATP application (10-60 s), P2X channels on some nodose neurons (about 40%) progressively dilate to become permeable to much larger cations such as Nmethyl-D-glucamine and the propidium analogue YO-PRO-1 (Virginio et al., 1999).

2.2.2. Actions of agonists on peripheral terminals

Since sensory neurons do not receive synaptic input to their soma, the P2X receptors of importance may be those located on their peripheral or central terminals (but see Section 2.4). Topical application of ATP to the receptive field selectively evokes action potential in some afferent fibres (Dowd et al., 1998; Kirkup et al., 1999; Hamilton and McMahon, 2000; Rong et al., 2000). ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP induced firing in single units recorded from the saphenous nerve of the rat in an in-vitro skin-nerve preparation (Hamilton and Mc-Mahon, 2000). Among all C-fibre nociceptors recorded, 49% responded to ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP. The greatest response occurred in C-mechanoheat units (polymodal nociceptors), while significantly less responsiveness was observed for C-mechanonociceptors and Aô-nociceptors. Low-threshold Aβ-fibre mechanoreceptors and Dhair receptors did not respond to either ATP or $\alpha\beta$ -meATP. This suggests that ATP selectively activates cutaneous nociceptors.

ATP can also excite nociceptors in other tissues. Intra-arterial or intra-articular injection of ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP caused rapidly activating, short-lasting excitation of a subpopulation of C and A δ nociceptive afferent nerves innervating rat knee joint (Dowd et al., 1998). In an in-vitro tongue/nerve preparation from adult rats, bolus close-arterial injection of ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP activated preferentially the trigeminal branch of the lingual nerve (which carries general sensory information including pain, temperature, touch, etc.), rather than the chorda tympani (which conduct taste sensation) (Rong et al., 2000). In contrast, no obvious P2X receptor-mediated actions at trigeminal nerves innervating the cornea (rat and cat) (Dowd et al., 1997) or at intradental nerves of the cat (Matthews et al., 1997) were found.

In addition to nociceptors, ATP has been shown to excite a variety of other primary afferent neurons. ATP released by oxygen sensing chemoreceptors in carotid body activates P2X receptors present on nerve endings of rat sinus nerve, and the hypoxic signalling in the carotid body is mediated by the corelease of ATP and acetylcholine (ACh) (Zhang et al., 2000). Intra-arterial injection of ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP excited mesenteric afferent nerves in the rat (Kirkup et al., 1999). Functional P2X receptors have also been demonstrated to be present on the nerve endings of afferent fibres in the pelvic nerve arising from the rat and mouse urinary bladder (Namasivayam et al., 1999; Vlaskovska et al., 2001), canine pulmonary vagal C fibres (Pelleg and Hurt, 1996), and vagal afferent nerves participating in the homeostatic mechanism for cardiovascular and respiratory regulation in the rat (McQueen et al., 1998).

2.2.3. Actions of agonists on central terminals

The activation of P2X receptors at peripheral terminals generates action potentials in primary afferent neurons, which propagate to their central terminals, and evoke release of transmitters onto postsynaptic neurons in the CNS. At central terminals of primary afferent neurons, ATP has been shown to act either presynaptically (Gu and MacDermott, 1997; Khakh and Henderson, 1998; Li et al., 1998), or postsynaptically (Fyffe and Perl, 1984; Salter and Henry, 1985; Sawynok and Sweeney, 1989; Li and Perl, 1995; Bardoni et al., 1997).

The facilitation of glutamate release by ATP acting on presynaptic P2X receptors has been described for nerve terminals of DRG neurons in dorsal horn (Gu and MacDermott, 1997), and for the MNV in the brain stem (Khakh and Henderson, 1998). In vivo, intrathecal administration of $\alpha\beta$ -meATP produced a significant and dose-dependent thermal hyperalgesic response in rats (Tsuda et al., 1999a). This effect was blocked by the P2 antagonists pyridoxalphosphate-6-azophenyl-2',4'-disulfonic acid (PPADS) and 2',3'-O-trinitrophenyl-ATP (TNP-ATP). In addition, preventing Ca²⁺-dependent exocytosis by administration of botulinum toxin, or blocking the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors with dizocilpine, also prevented the hyperalgesia. This suggests that $\alpha\beta$ -meATP may act via presynaptic P2X receptors on central terminals of DRG neurons to increase spinal glutamate release, which in turn activates NMDA receptors to generate thermal hyperalgesia.

Within the spinal cord, P2X receptors are present in a subpopulation of dorsal horn neurons (Bardoni et al., 1997; Jo and Schlichter, 1999; Hugel and Schlichter, 2000; Rhee et al., 2000), and ATP is coreleased with γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), but not with glutamate (Jo and Schlichter, 1999). In addition to acting as a fast excitatory synaptic transmitter, ATP facilitates excitatory transmission by increasing glutamate release and enhances inhibitory neurotransmission mediated by both GABA and glycine (Hugel and Schlichter, 2000; Rhee et al., 2000). Thus, ATP plays complex roles in spinal transmission and has been implicated in neurogenic and inflammatory pain pathways activated by formalin and capsaicin (Tsuda et al., 1999b). However, the underlying mechanisms are not clear.

2.3. Nature of the receptors

2.3.1. Molecular biology

The P2X₃ subunit was first cloned using a cDNA library from neonatal rat DRG neurons and shows a selectively high level of expression in a subset of sensory neurons, including those in DRG, trigeminal and nodose ganglia (Chen et al., 1995; Collo et al., 1996; Table 4). In DRG, although mRNA transcripts of P2X₁₋₆ have been detected, the level of P2X₃ transcript is the highest (Collo et al., 1996), and its level was substantially reduced in adult DRG following neonatal capsaicin treatment (Chen et al., 1995). A similar picture is found in trigeminal ganglia (Collo et al., 1996).

Sensory neurons from nodose ganglia express, in addition to P2X₃, significant levels of P2X_{1,2,4} RNAs, and some of these RNAs are present in the same cell (Collo et al., 1996; Lewis et al., 1995). In the MNV, mRNAs for P2X₂, and P2X₄₋₆ were found to be present (Collo et al., 1996; Kanjhan et al., 1999). Interestingly, P2X₄ probe stained many sensory neurons of the trigeminal, nodose and DRG in adult rat, but the signal was absent in the embryo (Buell et al., 1996b). More data are needed to establish the expression pattern of P2X subunits in sensory ganglia during development.

2.3.2. Immunohistochemistry

Since a high level of $P2X_3$ mRNA is selectively present in a subpopulation of sensory neurons, its expression pattern in sensory ganglia has attracted much interest and has been studied by immunohistochemistry at both the light microscope (Vulchanova et al., 1997, 1998; Bradbury et al., 1998; Xiang et al., 1998; Barden and Bennett, 2000) and electron microscope (Llewellyn-Smith and Burnstock, 1998) levels.

In DRG, intensive P2X₃ immunoreactivity is found predominantly in a subset of small- and medium-diameter neurons, while absent from most large neurons (Vulchanova et al., 1997, 1998; Bradbury et al., 1998; Xiang et al., 1998; Novakovic et al., 1999). The P2X₃ subunit is predominantly located in the non-peptidergic subpopulation of nociceptors that bind the isolectin B4 (IB4), and is greatly reduced by neonatal capsaicin treatment (Bradbury et al., 1998; Vulchanova et al., 1998). The $P2X_3$ subunit is present in approximately equal numbers of neurons projecting to the skin and viscera but in very few of those innervating skeletal muscle (Bradbury et al., 1998). Following sciatic nerve axotomy, P2X₃ subunit expression decreases by about 50% in L4/5 DRG, and this downregulation is reversed by glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Bradbury et al., 1998). In contrast, after chronic con-

Table 4

Summary of the distribution of P2X receptor transcripts and protein in rat sensory neurons^a

		Cell body	Central terminal	Peripheral terminal
Dorsal root ganglia	Protein ^b mRNA transcripts	P2X ₃ -IR ^c : high level of expression in non-peptidergic small- to medium-diameter neurons, many bind IB4 P2X ₂ -IR: present in many small and large neurons P2X ₁ , P2X _{4,5,6} -IR: variable low level of expression in some cells P2X ₁₋₆ all present, with the level of P2X ₃ transcript being the highest	 P2X₃-IR: present on axon terminals at inner lamina II of dorsal horn P2X₂-IR: present on axon terminals in lamina II and deeper layer, rarely overlap with P2X₃ 	P2X ₃ -IR: observed on nerve fibres in epidermis of glabrous skin, and in urothelium of urinary bladder
Trigeminal ganglia	Protein mRNA transcripts	P2X ₃ -IR: present in small and large neurons P2X _{1,2,4,5,6} -IR: variable and lower level compared with that of P2X ₃ P2X ₁₋₆ are all present	Both P2X ₂ - and P2X ₃ -IR are present in spinal trigeminal nucleus	$P2X_3$ -IR: present on sensory nerve endings in tooth pulp and in circumvallate papillae of the tongue
Nodose ganglia	Protein mRNA transcripts	$P2X_2$ - and $P2X_3$ -IR highly colocalize in cell body of many nodose neurons $P2X_{1,2,3,4}$ are present, colocalization of some mRNAs is observed in some neurons	P2X ₂ - and P2X ₃ -IR: colocalize in solitary tract and its nucleus (NTS)	
Petrosal ganglia	Protein mRNA transcripts	P2X ₂ -IR is present Not determined		
MNV	Protein mRNA transcripts	$P2X_2$ -IR is present $P2X_{2,4,5,6}$ are present		

^a See text for further details and references.

^b Including findings in rat and mouse.

^c IR: immunoreactivity.

striction injury to the sciatic nerve, the number of $P2X_3$ positive small and medium diameter DRG neurons appeared to have increased (Novakovic et al., 1999). The reason why these different forms of nerve damage produce opposite effects of P2X₃ subunit expression is at present unclear. P2X₂ receptor immunoreactivity is observed in many small and large DRG neurons, although the level is lower than that of $P2X_3$ (Vulchanova et al., 1997; Labrakakis et al., 2000; Petruska et al., 2000d). Some neurons seem to contain both P2X₂ and P2X₃ immunoreactivity. Although P2X₃ immunoreactivity is the predominant type detected, variable levels of immunoreactivity of $P2X_{1-2}$ and $P2X_{4-6}$ have also been detected in DRG neurons (Xiang et al., 1998; Barden and Bennett, 2000; Petruska et al., 2000a,d). These receptors take the form of clusters, $0.2-0.5 \ \mu m$ in diameter, and rarely appear to colocalize (Barden and Bennett, 2000).

In the spinal cord, $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity is apparent on the axon terminals of DRG neurons that extend across the entire mediolateral extent of inner lamina II of the dorsal horn (Vulchanova et al., 1997; Bradbury et al., 1998). This staining has a peripheral origin, as it was virtually eliminated by dorsal rhizotomy (Bradbury et al., 1998; Vulchanova et al., 1998). For the labelled nerve profiles in lamina II, $P2X_3$ receptors are located largely in terminals with ultrastructural characteristics of sensory afferent terminals (Llewellyn-Smith and Burnstock, 1998). In contrast, while $P2X_2$ immunoreactivity is most prominent in lamina II, it is also seen in deeper layers, and rarely overlaps with $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity (Vulchanova et al., 1997).

At the peripheral terminals of DRG neurons, $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity is observed in nerve fibres in rat and mouse glabrous skin, where the fibres appear to extend superficially and terminate in the epidermis (Vulchanova et al., 1998). $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity is also seen on the suburothelial nerve plexus of mouse urinary bladder, with positive staining on terminals of small nerve fibres that embed in the urothelium (Cockayne et al., 2000). Following sciatic nerve ligation, $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity accumulates proximal to the ligation site, indicating that $P2X_3$ is synthesized in the cell body, and transported along the processes into both central and peripheral terminals (Vulchanova et al., 1998).

The expression pattern of $P2X_3$ and $P2X_2$ in mouse DRG and spinal cord is very similar to that in the rat (Cockayne et al., 2000). Thus, $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity is present in small to medium neurons that bind IB4, while larger neurons contain $P2X_2$ immunoreactivity. Using antisera raised against rat P2X subunits, Vulchanova et al. (1997) described the expression pattern of $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ in monkey sensory neurons and their central terminals. Both $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity was found in monkey DRG, while only $P2X_2$,

but not $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity was detected in monkey spinal cord.

In trigeminal ganglia, $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity is found in the cell bodies of both small and large neurons (Cook et al., 1997; Llewellyn-Smith and Burnstock, 1998; Xiang et al., 1998). In addition, much lower levels of immunoreactivity to $P2X_{1,2}$ and $P2X_{4-6}$ appear to be present in these neurons (Xiang et al., 1998). Specific $P2X_3$ labelling is also observed at the sensory nerve endings in tooth pulp (Cook et al., 1997) and in the circumvallate papillae of the tongue (Bo et al., 1999). Both $P2X_3$ and $P2X_2$ labelling is seen in the spinal trigeminal nucleus (Vulchanova et al., 1996, 1997).

In nodose ganglia, P2X₂ and P2X₃ immunoreactivities are both present (Xiang et al., 1998) and are colocalized in the same neurons (Vulchanova et al., 1997). This is consistent with the colocalization of their mRNAs (Lewis et al., 1995). Colocalization of P2X₂ and $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity is also seen in the solitary tract and its nucleus (nucleus tractus solitarius) (Vulchanova et al., 1997). This is in contrast to the lack of overlap between $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity at the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. These immunohistochemical data are therefore consistent with the differences in the pharmacological properties of P2X receptors expressed in nodose and DRG neurons (see Section 2.3.3). In the nucleus tractus solitarius, $P2X_3$ receptor positive boutons synapse on dendrites and cell bodies and have complex synaptic relationships with other axon terminals and dendrites (Llewellyn-Smith and Burnstock, 1998).

Relatively little is known about P2X receptor expression at protein level in the MNV or petrosal ganglia. Although $P2X_2$ immunoreactivity is found in both regions, expression of other subunits has not been determined (Kanjhan et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2000).

2.3.3. Functional studies

2.3.3.1. Spectrum of response phenotype. Early studies on acutely dissociated or cultured sensory neurons of the rat showed that the ATP activated currents were either sustained or declined in the continued presence of agonist with a time constant of several seconds (Krishtal et al., 1983, 1988). Subsequent experiments revealed that while neurons of the nodose ganglion gave slowly desensitizing responses (Li et al., 1993; Khakh et al., 1995), those from DRG desensitized rapidly (<100-500 ms), and recovered slowly (> 5-20 min) (Robertson et al., 1996; Rae et al., 1998). The time constant of desensitization is dependent on the concentrations of ATP, but the current level is typically < 10% of peak at 500 ms after application of ATP 1 µM (Robertson et al., 1996; Rae et al., 1998). Moreover, recent studies on sensory neurons from rat DRG and trigeminal neurons revealed three types of responses, transient, sustained



Fig. 2. Responses of sensory neurons from neonatal rats to ATP and α , β -methylene ATP ($\alpha\beta$ -meATP). (A) Representative membrane currents evoked by 10 μ M ATP recorded from three different dorsal root ganglia (DRG) neurons having respectively transient, sustained and biphasic responses. (B) Membrane currents recorded from a single nodose ganglion neuron in response to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP (30 μ M) and ATP (10 μ M). Over 99% of nodose ganglion neurons respond to both agonists with a slowly desensitizing current. (P. Dunn and Y. Zhong, unpublished data).

and biphasic, comprising both transient and sustained components (Cook et al., 1997; Burgard et al., 1999; Grubb and Evans, 1999; Li et al., 1999; Ueno et al., 1999; Petruska et al., 2000a,c,d; Liu et al., 2001; see Fig. 2). However, the relative proportions of the three types of response observed vary considerably between studies, with between 28 and 80% neurons giving transient responses. Neurons from the petrosal ganglion (Zhang et al., 2000) and the mesencephalic nucleus of the trigeminal nerve (Cook et al., 1997; Khakh et al., 1997) appear to exhibit exclusively slowly desensitizing ATP responses.

It has been suggested that P2X receptors on neonatal DRG neurons desensitize rapidly, while those on adult DRG neurons desensitize slowly (Evans and Surprenant, 1996). However, this does not appear to be the case since all three types of response have been observed in both neonatal (Dunn et al., 2000) and adult (Burgard et al., 1999; Grubb and Evans, 1999; Petruska et al., 2000a,c) as well as cultured embryonic (Labrakakis et al., 2000) rat DRG neurons, while both adult (Li et al., 1993; Khakh et al., 1995) and neonatal (Dunn et al., 2000) rat nodose neurons respond to ATP with a persistent responses.

2.3.3.2. Pharmacology—transient responses. The transient response in DRG neurons is activated by ATP, $\alpha\beta$ -meATP and 2-methylthio ATP (2-meSATP) with EC₅₀s of about 1 μ M (Robertson et al., 1996; see Table 5). β,γ -Methylene-D-ATP ($\beta\gamma$ -me-D-ATP) and diadenosine 5',5^{'''}-P¹,P⁵-pentaphosphate (Ap₅A) also appear to be full agonists, but with a lower potency than ATP (Rae et al., 1998), while diadenosine 5',5^{'''}-P¹,P⁴tetraphosphate (Ap₄A) and β,γ -methylene-L-ATP ($\beta\gamma$ me-L-ATP) appear to be weak agonists (Rae et al., 1998; Grubb and Evans, 1999). Although UTP has been reported to be a potent agonist (Robertson et al., 1996; Rae et al., 1998), other studies have been unable to confirm these results (Grubb and Evans, 1999; P. Dunn, unpublished observation). TNP-ATP, diinosine

Table 5

Summary of the pharmacology of P2X receptors in rat and mouse sensory ganglia^a

Response type/α,βMeATP sensitivity	Ganglia where they are frequently encountered	Full agonist(EC ₅₀)	Antagonist(pIC ₅₀)	Modulators	Presumed identity of receptor
Transient/sensitive	DRG, trigeminal	ATP = $\alpha\beta$ meATP = 2-meSATP (1 μM), $\beta\gamma$ -me-D-ATP (13 μM), Ap5A (3 μM)	TNP-ATP (9.5), Ip ₅ I (7.1), Suramin (6.5), PPADS (6.4)	H^+ inhibition $Ca^{2+}_{(o)}$ potentiation	P2X ₃ homomer
Persistent/sensitive	Nodose, petrosal, DRG, trigeminal	ATP (3 μM), αβmeATP (9 μM), 2-meSATP (0.4 μM)	Suramin, PPADS, Cibacron blue, TNP-ATP(≈ 8.7)	Ca ²⁺ inhibition	$P2X_{2/3}$ heteromer
Persistent/insensitive	Nodose	ATP	Cibacron blue, TNP-ATP (<6.7)	Zn^{2+} potentiation, H ⁺ potentiation	P2X ₂ homomer
Persistent/sensitivity	MNV	ATP, ATP γ S, $\alpha\beta$ meATP (254 μ M)	Suramin, PPADS, TNP-ATP (partial)	Zn^{2+} potentiation Ca^{2+} partial inhibition	Novel heteromeric receptor?

^a See text for further details and references.

pentaphosphate (Ip₅I), suramin and PPADS inhibit the rapidly desensitizing P2X receptor (Robertson et al., 1996; Cook et al., 1997; Rae et al., 1998; Burgard et al., 1999) with pIC₅₀ values of 9.5, 7.1, 6.5 and 6.4, respectively (Grubb and Evans, 1999; Dunn et al., 2000). Reducing the extracellular pH decreases the amplitude of the transient response (Burgard et al., 1999), while elevating extracellular Ca2+ increases the response (Cook and McCleskey, 1997) and speeds up the recovery from desensitization (Cook et al., 1998). The pharmacological evidence to date generally supports the hypothesis that this rapidly desensitizing response is mediated by homomeric $P2X_3$ receptors. Although the immunoreactivity of P2X1 either alone or together with that of P2X₃ has been observed in adult rat DRG neurons, which gave transient responses to ATP (Petruska et al., 2000b,d), the complete loss of $\alpha\beta$ meATP sensitivity and of the transient response to ATP in P2X₃-null mutants (Cockayne et al., 2000; Souslova et al., 2000) would argue against the contribution by P2X₁ subunit to functional P2X receptors with fast kinetics, at least in mouse DRG neurons.

2.3.3.3. Pharmacology—persistent responses. ATP, αβmeATP and 2-meSATP evoke rapidly activating and sustained currents in rat nodose neurons, with EC_{50} s of 3, 9 and 0.4 µM, respectively (Khakh et al., 1995). Compared with ATP, 2-meSATP appears to be a full agonist, while adenosine 5'-O-(3-thiotriphosphate) $(ATP\gamma S)$ is a partial agonist on these neurons (Lewis et al., 1995). These responses are inhibited by suramin, PPADS, Cibacron blue, TNP-ATP and Ca²⁺ (Khakh et al., 1995; Thomas et al., 1998; Virginio et al., 1998), but not by $Ip_{s}I$ at concentrations up to 100 μ M (Dunn et al., 2000). Therefore, the $\alpha\beta$ -meATP-sensitive persistent responses in nodose neurons resemble the recombinant $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors (Lewis et al., 1995). However, the biphasic inhibition curve by TNP-ATP, when ATP is used as the agonist, reveals the presence of multiple P2X receptors in the same nodose neurons (Thomas et al., 1998). The responses evoked by ATP, in nodose neurons are potentiated by H^+ , Zn^{2+} and Cu^{2+} and inhibited by Mg²⁺ (Li et al., 1993, 1996a,b, 1997a,b; Wright and Li, 1995). However, because more than one receptor subtype is present on these cells, caution must be taken in interpreting these data obtained with ATP as the agonist, and it remains to be seen how the individual subpopulations of receptors are modulated by these chemicals.

Neurons of the mouse nodose ganglion give persistent responses to both ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP similar to those seen in the rat (Cockayne et al., 2000; Souslova et al., 2000). In P2X₃-deficient mice, no nodose neurons respond to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP at concentrations up to 100 μ M, while the response to ATP is significantly reduced. The residual persistent responses to ATP have all the char-



Fig. 3. Pharmacological properties of P2X receptors on nodose ganglion neurons from P2X₃-deficient mice. (A) These neurons respond to ATP with a slowly desensitizing inward current, but α,β -methylene ATP (α,β meATP) fails to evoke a response. The response to ATP is almost abolished when neurons are first incubated with Cibacron blue (CB, 10 μ M). (B) Combined data demonstrating the reversible potentiation of the ATP response by 10 μ M Zn²⁺ and by lowering the pH to 6.8 (n = 5). (C) Ivermectin (IVM, 1 μ M) had no effect on the response to 10 μ M ATP, while diinosine pentaphosphate (Ip₅I) produced a small reduction in the response (n = 5). *P < 0.05 by Student's *t*-test (Y. Zhong and P. Dunn unpublished).

acteristics of recombinant $P2X_2$ homomers. They desensitize slowly, are not sensitive to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP, and are inhibited by Cibacron blue. While the responses are potentiated by Zn^{2+} and acidification, they are not enhanced by ivermectin or Ip_5I (Fig. 3). Thus, the pharmacological evidence to date is consistent with the notion that both heteromeric $P2X_{2/3}$ and homomeric $P2X_2$ receptors are present in significant amounts in nodose neurons, although the proportions may vary from cell to cell.

The receptors underlying persistent P2X currents observed in DRG neurons can be divided into $\alpha\beta$ meATP-sensitive and -insensitive subtypes (Petruska et al., 2000d). A small proportion of DRG neurons from P2X₃-deficient mice gave $\alpha\beta$ -meATP-insensitive sustained responses to ATP (Cockayne et al., 2000), which may be attributed to homomeric $P2X_2$ receptors (as occurs in nodose ganglion neurons; see above). The $\alpha\beta$ -meATP-sensitive persistent P2X currents observed in DRG and trigeminal neurons are activated by ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP. Suramin and TNP-ATP are effective antagonists at these receptors (Cook et al., 1997; Burgard et al., 1999; Dunn et al., 2000). Their properties are therefore very similar to the $\alpha\beta$ -meATP-sensitive responses found on nodose ganglion neurons, and may be attributed to heteromeric $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors. Fast perfusion of ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP over petrosal ganglion neurons evokes slowly desensitizing, suramin-sensitive inward currents. While this is consistent with the presence of heteromeric $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors (Zhang et al., 2000), it remains to be seen whether additional P2X receptors are also present.

On neurons of the trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus, ATP, ATP γ S and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP are full agonists (Khakh et al., 1997; Patel et al., 2001). While ATPyS is the most potent, $\alpha\beta$ -meATP displays an unusually low potency (EC₅₀, 254 μ M). Interestingly, both TNP-ATP and raising the extracellular Ca²⁺ concentration inhibit only part of the response to $ATP\gamma S$. This has led to the suggestion that there are two populations of P2X receptors present on these neurons (Patel et al., 2001). Although some of the properties of these receptors are consistent with those of $P2X_2$ and $P2X_{2/3}$, others cannot be accounted for by any cloned homomeric or heteromeric receptors so far described (for reviews, see North and Surprenant, 2000; Khakh et al., 2001). Since neurons of the MNV contain P2X₂, P2X₄, P2X₅ and P2X₆ mRNAs (Collo et al., 1996; Kanjhan et al., 1999), it is possible that heteromeric receptors incorporating two or more of these subunits are involved.

2.3.3.4. Heterogeneity of P2X receptors in sensory neurons. The observation of transient, sustained and biphasic ATP responses in DRG and trigeminal ganglion neurons (see above) suggests the presence of multiple receptor types. However, the rates of desensitization of P2X receptors may be modified by changes in cytoskeleton (Parker, 1998), phosphorylation (Boue-Grabot et al., 2000), and alternative splicing (Brändle et al., 1997). The presence of multiple receptors has, however, been confirmed by the use of cross-desensitization (Burgard et al., 1999; Grubb and Evans, 1999) and the

selective antagonist Ip₅I (Dunn et al., 2000), which have clearly demonstrated that the transient and sustained components of the biphasic response are indeed mediated by distinct receptor subtypes. Furthermore, lowering extracellular pH inhibits the peak of the transient response, yet potentiates the persistent response to $\alpha\beta$ meATP (Burgard et al., 1999). Thus, the transient component appears to be mediated by P2X₃ receptors, while the sustained component is mediated by heteromeric P2X_{2/3} receptors (with a small contribution from homomeric P2X₂ receptors, see above).

Since nodose neurons express both P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits in their plasma membrane (Vulchanova et al., 1997), mixed populations of receptors made from $P2X_2$ and P2X₃ subunits (i.e. the multiple forms of $2_n 3_{(N-n)}$, where N = the total number of subunits in the receptor) may be present (Thomas et al., 1998). The properties of the $\alpha\beta$ -meATP-sensitive persistent currents are consistent with those of the heteromeric $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors (Lewis et al., 1995), while the phenotype of $\alpha\beta$ -meATPinsensitive persistent currents retained in P2X₃ -null mutant mice suggests that they may be $P2X_2$ homomers (Cockayne et al., 2000; Y. Zhong and P. Dunn, unpublished observations). The pharmacological evidence suggests that both $P2X_{2/3}$ and $P2X_2$ receptors are present in rat nodose neurons. However, we cannot rule out the possibility of multiple forms of heteromeric receptors, or the involvement of splice variants. Very occasionally ($\ll 1\%$), we have observed transient and biphasic currents in nodose neurons of rat and mouse, indicating the presence of P2X₃ homomers in a very small percentage of these neurons (Y. Zhong, unpublished observations).

Molecular biology and immunohistochemistry studies suggest that the mRNAs and proteins for $P2X_{1-6}$ subunits are present in sensory ganglia. At the functional level, it is now clear that mixed receptor populations coexist in the same neurons of rat DRG, trigeminal and nodose ganglia. The expression of these receptors shows great neuron-neuron variability, which has brought considerable complexity to pharmacological characterization, and has pointed to the need for re-evaluation of the pharmacological characterization in some of the early studies. To date, the pharmacological properties of the P2X receptors expressed by sensory neurons resemble those of the P2X₃, P2X₂ homomers and $P2X_{2/3}$ heteromers. The apparent discrepancy between functional and molecular studies may be due to the limitation in distinguishing heteromeric receptors with currently available pharmacological tools. Alternatively, the properties of the heteromeric receptors are dominated by P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits. It is also possible that distinct P2X receptors may be differentially distributed at cell soma and nerve terminals of the same neuron (for a review, see Khakh and Henderson, 2000). However, the time course of ATP- evoked transmitter release from the nerve terminal correlates with that of the ATP-gated current recorded at the cell bodies of DRG neurons, suggesting that similar P2X receptors are present on the soma and their associated terminals (Labrakakis et al., 2000). The fourth possibility is that, some of the P2X mRNAs may not contribute significantly to functional receptors. Subclasses of rat DRG neurons show distint P2X currents (Petruska et al., 2000c). However, more data are needed to establish the physiological significance of the heterogeneity in P2X receptor expression in sensory neurons.

2.3.3.5. Difference between nociceptors/non-nociceptors. Although there are heterogeneous populations of P2X receptors within each sensory ganglion, there appears to be a clear difference between those containing nociceptors (DRG and trigeminal ganglia) and those that do not (nodose, petrosal ganglia and MNV) (see above). Direct evidence supporting this suggestion comes from the study of Cook et al. (1997). Using a retrograde-labelling technique, they found that ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP evoked three types of responses (transient, persistent and biphasic) on tooth pulp innervating trigeminal nociceptors, while ATP (and weakly $\alpha\beta$ -meATP) evoked only sustained responses in proprioceptors from mesencephalic nucleus of trigeminal nerve, which innervate the jaw muscles.

Adult rat DRG neurons can be subclassified into several major groups according to their cell size, histochemical markers and the patterns of capsaicin-, proton- and ATP-activated currents (Petruska et al., 2000a,c). However, the correlation between capsaicin and ATP responses appears to be more complicated than previously supposed. Furthermore, capsaicin has been shown to cross-desensitize the persistent P2X responses (Piper and Docherty, 2000). Nevertheless, neonatal capsaicin treatment was found to greatly reduce the percentage of cells showing transient response, but left the percentage with persistent responses unaltered (Tsuda et al., 2000). (In fact, this equates to a loss of approximately 50% of the neurons with sustained ATP responses).

2.3.3.6. Species differences. Transient responses are the predominant type evoked by P2X agonists from DRG neurons of rat and mouse, with persistent and biphasic types seen less frequently (Burgard et al., 1999; Grubb and Evans, 1999; Cockayne et al., 2000). In contrast, only sustained inward currents have been reported on DRG neurons from bullfrog (Bean, 1990; Li et al., 1997c). However, nearly all of the nodose neurons from the rat (Li et al., 1993; Khakh et al., 1995), the mouse (Cockayne et al., 2000) and guinea-pig (Zhong et al., 2001) responded to ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP with persistent responses.

In addition, a species difference is evident for some pharmacological properties of these neuronal P2X receptors. Thus, while the potency of ATP is increased by Zn^{2+} on nodose neurons from rat and mouse (Li et al., 1993; Y. Zhong, unpublished observations), the ATP responses of nodose neurons from guinea-pig and DRG neurons from bullfrog are inhibited by Zn^{2+} (Li et al., 1997c; Zhong et al., 2001). The mechanisms underlying these differences are at present unclear.

2.4. Physiological roles

2.4.1. General aspects

ATP is present in millimolar concentrations in virtually all cells and can be released by exocytosis or following cell lysis (see Burnstock and Wood, 1996; Hamilton and McMahon, 2000). The activation of P2X receptors present at both peripheral and central nerve terminals may result in the generation of action potentials and an increase in intracellular Ca2+ concentration in primary afferent neurons (see Section 2.2). Hence, ATP has been suggested to play important roles in normal sensory transduction, nociception, thermal hyperalgesia, and mechanical allodynia. Although sensory neurons do not receive synaptic input to their cell body, P2X receptors on the soma may play important roles under certain pathological conditions. For example, in neuropathic pain states, sympathetic axons can sprout into DRG and make close contact with neurons in DRG (e.g. Ramer and Bisby, 1997). Thus, ATP released by these sympathetic nerve endings (for a review, see Burnstock, 2000) may activate P2X receptors expressed on the soma, and play a part in neuropathic pain.

While 50-96% dissociated DRG neurons responded to ATP (Bean, 1990; Grubb and Evans, 1999), neurons in intact DRG failed to respond to ATP or αβ-meATP (Stebbing et al., 1998). This has led to the suggestion that enzymic dissociation and cell-culture condition may dramatically upregulate the expression of P2X receptors. However, several lines of evidence would argue against this. Immunohistochemical studies of both intact ganglia and acutely dissociated rat DRG neurons have demonstrated the presence of P2X receptor proteins (Vulchanova et al., 1997; Xiang et al., 1998; Barden and Bennett, 2000). More importantly, application of ATP to both peripheral and central nerve terminals of primary afferent fibres evokes a physiological response (see Section 2.2). The accessibility of drug in an intact preparation, the fast-desensitizing phenotype of P2X₃ receptors, and the rapid internalization of receptors on exposure to ATP (Dutton et al., 2000) may contribute to the failure to detect responses to ATP in intact DRG.

ATP selectively excites primary afferent fibres, including those in the pelvic nerve from the urinary bladder (Namasivayam et al., 1999; Vlaskovska et al., 2001), mesenteric afferent fibres (Kirkup et al., 1999), sinus nerve (Zhang et al., 2000), vagal afferent fibres (Pelleg and Hurt, 1996; McQueen et al., 1998), lingual nerve in the tongue (Rong et al., 2000) and nociceptors in the knee (Dowd et al., 1998). When ATP was applied to a blister base or injected intradermally, it caused pain in humans (Bleehen and Keele, 1977; Coutts et al., 1981). Furthermore, a pain sensation described as modest and burning was experienced when ATP was delivered to the volar forearm skin of humans using the non-invasive method of iontophoresis (Hamilton et al., 2000). The pain produced by ATP was dependent on capsaicin-sensitive sensory neurons as it was virtually abolished in skin treated repeatedly with topical capsaicin. Conversely, the pain-producing effects of ATP were greatly potentiated in hyperalgesia induced by acute capsaicin treatment and UV irradiation (Hamilton et al., 2000). In animal models, subplantar injection of ATP and 2',3'-O-(4-benzoylbenzoyl)-ATP (BzATP) produced nocifensive behaviour (hindpaw lifting and licking) in the rat and mouse (Bland-Ward and Humphrey, 1997; Hamilton et al., 1999; Cockayne et al., 2000; Jarvis et al., 2001). This effect was dose-related, blockable by PPADS and TNP-ATP, but potentiated by Cibacron blue (Hamilton et al., 1999; Jarvis et al., 2001). Furthermore, the threshold was significantly lower in inflamed skin (Hamilton et al., 1999). In addition, low concentrations of ATP may act in concert with other mediators recruited by the inflammatory process to augment the pain signal, so ATP may play a more important role in inflammatory pain (Sawynok and Reid, 1997; Hamilton et al., 1999; Bland-Ward and Humphrey, 2000). Indeed, the concentrations of ATP needed to induce pain in humans were greatly reduced when tested on blister base rather than normal skin (Bleehen and Keele, 1977; Coutts et al., 1981), and fractions of cell cytosol also caused pain when applied to blister bases (Bleehen et al., 1976).

In addition to its direct activation of P2X receptors on peripheral terminals and synergistic effects with other mediators, ATP can sensitize the peripheral nerve terminals to other stimuli. The rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration following P2X receptor activation increases the sensitivity of DRG neurons to heat (Kress and Guenther, 1999), and P2X agonists sensitize mechanoreceptors on vagal afferent fibres in acute oesophagitis (Page et al., 2000). The activation of heteromeric $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors in peripheral terminals of capsaicin-insensitive primary afferent fibres may lead to the induction of mechanical allodynia (Tsuda et al., 2000). Within the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, ATP has been suggested to act on presynaptic P2X receptors near central terminals of DRG neurons to facilitate glutamate release, and so ATP may be responsible for thermal hyperalgesia in inflamed skin (Hamilton et al.,

1999; Tsuda et al., 1999a). However, the effect of spinal endogenous ATP is likely to be complex, since ATP is coreleased with the inhibitory transmitter GABA and may facilitate both inhibitory and excitatory synaptic transmission (see Section 2.2).

2.4.2. Transgenic studies

Studies of transgenic mice lacking the P2X₃ subunit provided direct evidence for the physiological roles of homo- and or heteromeric P2X receptors containing the P2X₃ subunit (Cockayne et al., 2000; Souslova et al., 2000). P2X₃-null mutant mice are viable and outwardly normal. They respond normally to acute mechanical and thermal stimuli, but with an attenuated response in both phases of the formalin test. This is consistent with previous findings using antagonists (Sawynok and Reid, 1997), and points to a role for ATP activation of P2X₃ in mediating nociceptive response to tissue damage. In addition, the P2X₃ subunit within the dorsal horn may play a regulatory role in persistent inflammatory pain (Souslova et al., 2000).

The most significant phenotype of $P2X_3^{-/-}$ mice, however, is a profound urinary bladder hyporeflexia, which suggests an essential role for $P2X_3$ in regulating micturition reflex excitability (Cockayne et al., 2000) (Fig. 4). It is likely that ATP, released from urothelium of the bladder in response to stretch during filling (Ferguson et al., 1997), directly activates P2X receptors on the terminal of afferent fibres (Namasivayam et al., 1999) and thus excites the primary afferents and generates the micturition reflex. In the P2X₃-null mutant mice, the loss of P2X₃ may significantly impair sensory neuron excitability during bladder filling, resulting in increased volume threshold and decreased voiding frequency.

It will be interesting to see how the primary afferent pathways is affected in transgenic mice lacking other P2X subunits, for example the P2X₂-deficient mice, and animals lacking both P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits.

2.5. Summary

Immunohistochemistry and molecular biology indicate that, while the main subunits expressed by sensory neurons are P2X₃ and P2X₂, a number of other subunits may also be present. Nevertheless, with perhaps the exception of the MNV, all the data from pharmacological experiments to date can be accounted for by the presence of homomeric P2X₂ and P2X₃ and heteromeric P2X_{2/3} receptors on cell bodies of sensory neurons. It remains to be determined whether nerve terminals express P2X receptors distinct from those of the cell soma. While the expression of P2X₃ can be modified by nerve injury, little is known about the factors that determine the relative proportions of homomeric and heteromeric receptors. Understanding the



Fig. 4. Bladder reflexes in wild-type and P2X₃-deficient mice. (A) Measurement of intravesicular pressure recorded from anaesthetized mice, during a constant rate infusion of 0.3 ml saline over 15 min. In the wild-type (+/+) animal, this results in a series of reflex bladder contractions; no such contractions are seen in the null mutant (-/-) P2X₃-deficient animal. (B) Histogram of the averaged number of contractions per cystometrogram for eight wild-type and 11 null mutant mice. **P* < 0.05 by Student's *t*-test (reproduced with permission from Cockayne et al., 2000 Nature 407, 1011–1015, http:// www.nature.com/

functional relevance of this heterogeneity and its regulatory factors may shed new light on mechanisms of primary afferent transmission.

3. Sympathetic and parasympathetic neurons

3.1. Introduction

The earliest report of an action of ATP on sympathetic neurons came in 1948, when Feldberg and Hebb observed that intra-arterial perfusion of the cat superior cervical ganglia (SCG) with ATP evoked contraction of the nictitating membrane (Feldberg and Hebb, 1948). Since similar responses were produced by comparable concentrations of pyrophosphate and adenylic acid, the underlying mechanism remains unclear. Following on from the suggestion that ATP might act as a neurotransmitter (Burnstock et al., 1970; Burnstock, 1972), intracellular recordings from frog sympathetic ganglion neurons revealed a depolarizing action of ATP, which was subsequently shown to result from inhibition of the M-current, and presumably mediated through P2Y receptors (Siggins et al., 1977; Akasu et al., 1983). Demonstration of depolarization and excitation of cat autonomic neurons (Theobald and de Groat, 1977, 1989; Akasu et al., 1984), and subsequent recording of single channels (Fieber and Adams, 1991; Cloues et al., 1993) confirmed the presence of what we now know to be P2X receptors.

3.2. Sympathetic neurons

3.2.1. Immunohistochemistry

A number of studies have now demonstrated the presence of P2X receptors in sympathetic ganglia by immunohistochemistry. Xiang et al. (1998) detected immunoreactivity for $P2X_{1-4}$ and $P2X_6$ receptors in SCG and coeliac ganglia of the rat. In a study of cultured SCG neurons, P2X₂ was the most highly expressed receptor, while lower, though detectable, levels of all the other subunits except $P2X_4$ were present (Li et al., 2000). However, it is at present unclear to what extent the expression of P2X receptors may be influenced by tissue culture conditions. In general agreement with these observations, $P2X_2$ but not $P2X_1$ immunoreactivity was detected in perivascular nerves in the gut (Vulchanova et al., 1996). In a study of the guinea-pig SGG, $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity was detected using antibodies raised against the corresponding rat receptor epitopes. However neither $P2X_1$ nor $P2X_{4-6}$ appeared to be present in guinea-pig SCG, although the antibodies did detect immunoreactivity in other guineapig tissues (Zhong et al., 2000a).

3.2.2. Molecular biology

In keeping with the histochemical evidence, mRNA for most P2X subunits has been detected in sympathetic neurons. $P2X_5$ and $P2X_6$ receptors were first isolated by PCR from coeliac and SCG mRNAs, respectively (Collo et al., 1996). Fragments of P2X₃ and P2X₄ receptors have also been cloned from a rat SCG cDNA library (Lewis et al., 1995; Buell et al., 1996b). Three splice variants of the rat P2X₂ receptor have been cloned, and all three were detected in SCG neurons by in-situ hybridization (Simon et al., 1997). Other in-situ studies have detected P2X_{1,4,6} mRNA in rat SCG neurons (Buell et al., 1996b; Collo et al., 1996).

3.2.3. Pharmacology

Almost 40 years after the first report of an action of ATP on sympathetic ganglia (Feldberg and Hebb,

1948), it was demonstrated that purinergic synaptic transmission occurred between sympathetic neurons in culture (Evans et al., 1992; Silinsky and Gerzanich, 1993). A number of subsequent studies have characterized the receptors present on sympathetic neurons, and it is now clear that there is a species difference between rat and guinea-pig. Some studies using extracellular recording techniques on intact ganglia have demonstrated the presence of multiple receptor types (Brown et al., 1979; Connolly and Harrison, 1994). However, these techniques detect responses mediated by both P2X and non-P2X receptors (Bofill-Cardona et al., 2000). Consequently, it is electrophysiological studies on dissociated neurons that have provided the most useful information. However, even with these studies, care must be taken to avoid complications arising from the activation of P2Y receptors. Numerous studies have demonstrated an inward current in response to micromolar concentrations of ATP, due to the opening of a non-selective cation current and which can be blocked by suramin (Evans et al., 1992; Cloues et al., 1993; Nakazawa, 1994; Khakh et al., 1995; Rogers et al., 1997).

The ATP receptors present on sympathetic neurons are activated by ATP with an EC_{50} of 40-80 μ M (Khakh et al., 1995; Zhong et al., 2000a,b). 2-MeSATP is also an effective agonist with a similar affinity and efficacy (Khakh et al., 1995). The sensitivity to $\alpha\beta$ meATP varies with species. Thus, in the guinea-pig, $\alpha\beta$ -meATP is an effective agonist on SCG (Reekie and Burnstock, 1994; Zhong et al., 2000a; but see below) and coeliac ganglion neurons (Khakh et al., 1995). In contrast, $\alpha\beta$ -meATP evoked only a small, slowly desensitizing response in a proportion of neurons from rat SCG (Cloues et al., 1993; Khakh et al., 1995; Rogers et al., 1997). However in a study of rat and mouse coeliac ganglion neurons, no responses to 100 μM αβ-meATP were detected (Zhong et al., 2000b). Recent work from our laboratory indicates that there may be a loss of αβ-meATP-sensitive receptors from rat sympathetic neurons during development (J. Geever and P. Dunn, unpublished observation; see Section 5.3).

ATP responses in rat sympathetic neurons are antagonized by suramin with an IC₅₀ of 10–100 μ M (Khakh et al., 1995; Zhong et al., 2000b). Cibacron blue is a more potent antagonist and, when used at low concentrations, is completely reversible (Zhong et al., 2000b). In contrast, pyridoxal-5-phosphate (P5P) and PPADS produce an irreversible or slowly reversible antagonism (Khakh et al., 1995; Zhong et al., 2000b). Although the early study of Khakh et al. (1995) reported the responses of guinea-pig coeliac neurons to be sensitive to the antagonists suramin, Cibacron blue and P5P, more recent studies on guinea-pig pelvic ganglion and SCG neurons (see below and Fig. 5) indicate that two or more different receptors, with different antagonist sen-



Fig. 5. Pharmacological evidence that guinea-pig SCG neurons express two P2X receptors. (A, B) Membrane currents recorded from two guinea-pig SCG neurons, showing the effect of cross-desensitization. In (A), desensitization by prolonged application of ATP reduced the response to ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP to 30 and 27% of the control, respectively. For the cell shown in (B), desensitization by $\alpha\beta$ -meATP reduced the response to 14% of control, while that to ATP was only reduced to 44%. (C) Inhibition curves for the action of TNP-ATP on guinea-pig SCG neurons. When using $\alpha\beta$ -meATP as the agonist (\blacksquare), TNP-ATP was approximately 10 times more potent than when ATP was used on cells lacking $\alpha\beta$ -meATP responses (\blacktriangle). When ATP was used as the agonist on cells having equal proportions of $\alpha\beta$ -meATPsensitive and -insensitive receptors (\triangle), the potency of TNP-ATP lay between the two, consistent with the presence of equal proportions of high- and low-affinity receptors (reproduced with permission from Zhong et al., 2000a).

sitivities, may coexist on these neurons. Thus, responses to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP on guinea-pig SCG neurons are antagonized by TNP-ATP with an IC₅₀ of 70 nM, while responses to ATP (on neurons not responding to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP) were inhibited with an IC₅₀ of 500 nM (Zhong et al., 2000a).

ATP-evoked noradrenaline release has now been detected from both rat (Boehm, 1999) and guinea-pig (Sperlágh et al., 2000) sympathetic nerve terminals. The properties of the receptors involved are broadly in keeping with those determined in electrophysiological studies. Thus, ATP-evoked noradrenaline release from rat sympathetic nerve terminals could be blocked by suramin and PPADS, while the agonist profile for this ATP > 2-meSATP > $ATP\gamma S \gg \alpha\beta$ response was meATP (Boehm, 1999). P2X agonists stimulated release from the guinea-pig heart with a potency order of ATP > 2-meSATP $> \alpha\beta$ -meATP = ADP. This response was antagonized by TNP-ATP, PPADS and suramin, but not by Reactive blue 2. Interestingly, the response was potentiated by 50 μ M Zn²⁺, which conflicts with the electrophysiological data of Zhong et al. (2001).

ATP responses in rat and mouse sympathetic neurons are potentiated by micromolar concentrations of Zn^{2+} (Cloues, 1995; Zhong et al., 2000b). This is due to an increase in the affinity of the receptor for ATP, and is seen at the single channel level as an increased duration of the burst of channel openings (Cloues, 1995). The response of sympathetic neurons to ATP is potentiated by acidification, and inhibited by raising the pH (Zhong et al., 2000b), which is a property of the recombinant P2X₂ receptor (King et al., 1996; Stoop et al., 1997).

Most of the properties described for P2X receptors in rat sympathetic neurons (kinetics, agonist and antagonist profile, effect of Zn^{2+} and pH) are consistent with those of the recombinant P2X₂ receptor. The presence of a small slowly desensitizing $\alpha\beta$ -meATP response in rat SCG neurons can be explained most easily by the coexistence of some heteromeric P2X_{2/3} receptors. The receptors present on guinea-pig sympathetic neurons have been less thoroughly characterized. Furthermore, little is known about recombinant receptors from this species. However from the combination of immunohistochemical and functional data, it is tempting to speculate that these neurons also possess a mixture of P2X₂ and P2X_{2/3} receptors.

3.3. Parasympathetic neurons

3.3.1. Immunohistochemistry and molecular biology

Because of their smaller size and more diffuse location, parasympathetic ganglia are much harder to study. Consequently, there appears to be little or no immunohistochemical or molecular biological information on the presence of P2X receptors in these neurons.

3.3.2. Pharmacology

Prior to the cloning of P2X receptors, large doses of ATP were found to produce excitation in the vesical parasympathetic ganglion of the cat (Theobald and de Groat, 1989). Responses to ATP have been recorded from dissociated neurons from the chick ciliary ganglia (Abe et al., 1995), rabbit vesical parasympathetic ganglion (Nishimura and Tokimasa, 1996), intramural ganglia from the guinea-pig urinary bladder (Burnstock et al., 1987) and guinea-pig and rat cardiac neurons in culture (Allen and Burnstock, 1990; Fieber and Adams, 1991). In general, the results are very similar to those obtained in sympathetic neurons. Thus, application of ATP evokes a rapid depolarization or inward current through the activation of P2X receptors. While 2meSATP is approximately equipotent with ATP, $\alpha\beta$ meATP evoked only small responses when applied at high concentrations to rat neurons. On guinea-pig neurons, the response to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP varied from cell to cell between 0 and 75% of that to ATP. On rat cardiac ganglion neurons, the response to ATP was antagonized by Reactive blue 2 (Cibacron blue 3GA) with an IC_{50} of approximately 1 μ M (Fieber and Adams, 1991), while on guinea-pig neurons, responses were potentiated by this drug at concentrations up to 30 µM (Allen and Burnstock, 1990).

3.4. Pelvic ganglion neurons

The neurons providing motor innervation to the bladder and other pelvic organs originate in the pelvic plexus. In the rat and mouse, this plexus consists of a pair of major pelvic ganglia (MPG) and a number of small accessory ganglia (Purinton et al., 1973). In the guinea-pig, there are additional intramural ganglia within the wall of the bladder. The MPG receives sympathetic and parasympathetic inputs from pre-ganglionic axons within the hypogastric and pelvic nerves, respectively (Keast, 1995), and is therefore unique in being neither sympathetic nor parasympathetic.

3.4.1. Immunohistochemistry

Using polyclonal antibodies specific for P2X receptor subunits, $P2X_2$ immunoreactivity has been detected in MPG neurons of the rat (Zhong et al., 1998). While many neurons showed low levels of staining, a small percentage showed strong, and specific staining. However, no significant staining was observed with antibodies to $P2X_1$ or $P2X_{3-6}$ subunits (Y. Zhong, unpublished observations). In keeping with these observations, $P2X_2$ but not $P2X_1$ immunoreactivity was detected in axons and nerve terminals in the vas deferens (Vulchanova et al., 1996). In the guinea-pig pelvic ganglion, in addition to staining for the $P2X_2$ subunit, $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity has also been detected (Zhong et al., 2000a).

3.4.2. Molecular biology

Studies using in-situ hybridization have detected high levels of $P2X_2$ mRNA in rat MPG neurons (Zhong et al., 1998). While some $P2X_4$ message was also detectable, no staining was observed using probes directed against $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ mRNA.

3.4.3. Pharmacology

P2X receptors in rat MPG neurons have an agonist profile of $ATP \ge 2$ -meSATP = $ATP\gamma S > BzATP$, and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP is inactive at concentrations up to 100 μ M (Zhong et al., 1998). The receptors are antagonized reversibly by suramin (pA₂ 5.6) and Cibacron blue (IC₅₀ 0.7μ M), while PPADS is an irreversible or slowly reversible antagonist. Micromolar concentrations of Zn²⁺ and H⁺ increase the agonist affinity of the receptor. The properties of the receptor present on mouse pelvic ganglion neurons are almost identical to those of the rat (Zhong et al., 2000b). The situation in the guinea-pig is much more complex. There are at least three distinct receptor subtypes present, which occur in varying proportions from cell to cell. One receptor is rapidly desensitizing and activated by $\alpha\beta$ -meATP. Another receptor is activated by $\alpha\beta$ -meATP, but is slowly desensitizing. This receptor is antagonized by suramin but is only weakly inhibited by Cibacron blue (Zhong et al., 2001). The third receptor is slowly desensitizing and insensitive to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP. This receptor is not antagonized by either suramin or Cibacron blue. Both slowly desensitizing receptors are antagonized by PPADS, potentiated by low pH, and inhibited by high micromolar concentrations of Zn²⁺ (Zhong et al., 2001).

The pharmacological properties of the P2X receptors present on rat MPG neurons are consistent with those of the recombinant $P2X_2$ receptor. The properties of the three different receptors present on guinea-pig pelvic neurons, in particular the antagonist sensitivity of the slowly desensitizing ones, are harder to account for. However, the presence of $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ subunits has been demonstrated by immunohistochemistry. Thus, it may be that the properties of some guinea-pig P2X receptors differ appreciably from their rat orthologues, and that the receptors present are in fact $P2X_2$, $P2X_3$ and $P2X_{2/3}$.

3.5. Chromaffin cells

Chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla can be regarded as a highly specialized form of sympathetic neuron. Although the $P2X_2$ receptor was originally cloned from PC12 cells which are a rat phaeochromacytoma cell line, adrenomedullary chromaffin cells have received relatively little attention.

3.5.1. Immunohistochemistry

In one of the first immunohistochemical studies of P2X receptors, using antibodies raised against P2X₁ and P2X₂ receptors, Vulchanova and colleagues observed both P2X₁ and P2X₂ immunoreactivity in both differentiated PC12 cells and chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla (Vulchanova et al., 1996). This observation is in marked contrast to functional studies (see below), and was not substantiated in more recent studies (Afework and Burnstock, 1999, 2000a) in which only limited expression of P2X₅ and P2X₇ was detected in rat chromaffin cells, while P2X₆ immunoreactivity was detected in the guinea-pig.

3.5.2. Molecular biology

Brake and colleagues cloned the $P2X_2$ receptor from PC12 cells and detected weak expression of the mRNA in the adrenal gland by Northern blotting (Brake et al., 1994). $P2X_4$ mRNA has also been detected (Bo et al., 1995). However, in both studies, it is not certain whether the RNA was present in the medulla or cortical cells.

3.5.3. Pharmacology

ATP can produce at least three different effects on adrenal chromaffin cells: inhibition of voltage gated Ca^{2+} channels (Diverse-Pierluissi et al., 1991; Currie and Fox, 1996), release of Ca^{2+} from internal stores (Reichsman et al., 1995) and activation of a non-selective cation channel (Otsuguro et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1999). While the first two effects are most probably mediated by P2Y receptors, the third effect has the characteristics for the activation of P2X receptors.

Functional studies have demonstrated the presence of P2X receptors on bovine (Reichsman et al., 1995) and guinea-pig (Otsuguro et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1999) chromaffin cells. However, these receptors appear to be absent in the rat (Hollins and Ikeda, 1997; Liu et al., 1999). The P2X receptor present on chromaffin cells can be activated by ATP and 2-meSATP, but is much less sensitive or insensitive to $\alpha\beta$ -meATP (Reichsman et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1999). To date, the only detailed pharmacological study of P2X receptors on chromaffin cells has been carried out on the guinea-pig. Here, the receptor is antagonized by PPADS, but suramin and Cibacron blue are quite weak antagonists. The response is potentiated by low pH, but inhibited by Zn^{2+} . Thus, while this receptor has some properties in common with the rat P2X₂ receptor (agonist profile, effect of pH), the lack of potentiation by Zn^{2+} and the low sensitivity to the antagonists suramin and Cibacron blue are not. Although three spliced variants of the guinea-pig $P2X_2$ receptor have been cloned, and some pharmacological characterization has been carried out (Parker, 1998; Chen et al., 2000), there is at present insufficient information to confirm the identity of the native P2X receptor present on guinea-pig chromaffin cells.

The pharmacological properties of the P2X receptor present on guinea-pig chromaffin cells are very similar to that of the $\alpha\beta$ -meATP-insensitive receptor found on pelvic ganglion neurons. It therefore seems likely that it is in fact the homomeric P2X₂ receptor.

3.6. Physiological roles

The presence of P2X receptors on autonomic ganglion neurons (see above) and the release of ATP from preganglionic nerve fibres (Vizi et al., 1997) suggests a possible role for ATP as a ganglionic neurotransmitter. Synaptic transmission in the rat MPG is relatively resistant to nicotinic antagonists (Felix et al., 1998), and non-cholinergic excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) have been recorded in neonatal rat cardiac ganglia (Seabrook et al., 1990). Furthermore, purinergic synapses form between ganglion neurons in culture (Evans et al., 1992; Silinsky and Gerzanich, 1993). Although direct evidence is still lacking (Inokuchi and McLachlan, 1995), the level of P2X receptor expression and receptor subtypes vary considerably from cell to cell, between ganglia and between species. Thus, the existence of purinergic transmission in some autonomic ganglia remains a distinct possibility.

3.7. Summary

P2X receptors have been detected in almost all sympathetic and parasympathetic ganglia studied. However, their physiological significance is still unclear. While the immunohistochemical, molecular biological and functional information on P2X receptors in autonomic neurons may not agree perfectly, the majority of information supports the following hypothesis: autonomic neurons express P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits, which can coassemble to form three functionally identifiable receptors. However, the level of P2X₃ expression varies greatly between species (rat vs. guinea pig) and even from cell to cell. Thus, rat autonomic neurons express almost exclusively homomeric P2X2 receptors, while guinea-pig neurons express a mixture of homomeric $P2X_2$, heteromeric $P2X_{2/3}$ and, in some cases, homomeric P2X₃ receptors. Adrenomedullary chromaffin cells appear to be an exception to this general pattern since those of the rat lack P2X receptors, while those in the guinea-pig appear to express only the $P2X_2$ subtype.

4. Enteric neurons

4.1. Immunohistochemistry

To date, little has been published on the presence of P2X immunoreactivity in the enteric nervous system. $P2X_2$ but not $P2X_1$ immunoreactivity is present in

submucous plexus neurons of the guinea-pig ileum (Vulchanova et al., 1996). $P2X_3$ immunoreactivity has been detected in the human myenteric plexus (Yiangou et al., 2000), and these neurons also show positive staining for $P2X_2$ (O. Fajobi, personal communication).

4.2. Molecular biology

The diffuse nature of the enteric plexuses make them unattractive subjects for molecular biology. Although $P2X_4$ mRNA has been detected in rat gut by Northern blot and RT-PCR (Soto et al., 1996), it is unclear whether it is present in the neurons, muscle or epithelium. Similarly, the inability to detect P2X₃ mRNA in rat ileum by Northern blot (Chen et al., 1995) might be because only very low amounts of neuronal RNA were present.

4.3. Pharmacology

Early studies using intracellular microelectrode recording from intact myenteric and submucosal ganglia revealed that ATP could evoke a slow hyperpolarization, or depolarization, and inhibit synaptic transmission (Katayama and Morita, 1989; Barajas-López et al., 1994; Kamiji et al., 1994). However, these effects are mediated through P1 and P2Y receptors. Subsequent experiments using patch clamp recordings from dissociated and cultured ganglion neurons revealed an additional fast depolarization (observed as an inward current under voltage clamp) due to the activation of P2X receptors (Barajas-López et al., 1994; Glushakov et al., 1996; Zhou and Galligan, 1996). In addition, elevation of intracellular Ca2+, measured by microfluorimetry has observed responses mediated through both P2X and non-P2X receptors (Kimball and Mulholland, 1995; Kimball et al., 1996; Christofi et al., 1997).

The pharmacological properties of the P2X receptors present on guinea-pig myenteric and submucosal ganglion neurons have been investigated in a number of studies. While the majority of neurons gave slowly desensitizing responses, approximately 10% of neurons responded to ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP with a rapidly desensitizing response (Zhou and Galligan, 1996; Glushakov et al., 1998). The agonist profile reported for the slowly desensitizing receptor is $ATP\gamma S \ge 2$ meSATP \geq ATP $\gg \alpha\beta$ -meATP $\geq \beta\gamma$ -meATP, with UTP and adenosine being inactive (Barajas-López et al., 1994, 1996; Zhou and Galligan, 1996). However, the activity of $\alpha\beta$ -meATP varies considerably from cell to cell. Thus, in some neurons, it evokes no response, while in others, the maximum response is approximately 50% of that to ATP (Barajas-López et al., 1994; Zhou and Galligan, 1996). The possible coexistance of two or more populations of P2X receptors on these neurons complicates the interpretation of this data. In those cells where $\alpha\beta$ -meATP does not act as an agonist, it can inhibit the response to ATP (Glushakov et al., 1996; Zhou and Galligan, 1996; LePard et al., 1997), but when $\alpha\beta$ -meATP is a weak agonist, it does not seem to affect the response to ATP (Barajas-López et al., 1996).

The slowly desensitizing P2X receptors on enteric neurons are antagonized by micromolar concentrations of PPADS, with an IC₅₀ of approximately 3 µM (Barajas-López et al., 1996; Zhou and Galligan, 1996; LePard et al., 1997). However, suramin has been reported either to antagonize (Galligan and Bertrand, 1994), have no effect (Glushakov et al., 1998) or potentiate (Barajas-López et al., 1993, 1996) responses to ATP. Since similar potentiation was observed when $\alpha\beta$ meATP was used as the agonist (Barajas-López et al., 1996), this effect is unlikely to result from blockade of ecto-ATPase by suramin. Cibacron blue is similarly ineffective at antagonizing the slowly desensitizing receptor in enteric neurons or produces a modest potentiation of responses to ATP (Barajas-López et al., 1996; Glushakov et al., 1996).

4.4. Physiological roles

In the guinea-pig myenteric plexus, approximately 30% of fast excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) can be abolished by the nicotinic antagonist hexamethonium. However, fEPSPs remaining in the presence of hexamethonium could be further reduced by the P2 antagonists suramin and PPADS (Galligan and Bertrand, 1994; LePard et al., 1997), indicating the presence of a purinergic component to the fEPSP. Although fEPSPs with a purinergic component can be found throughout the length of the gut, they are more common in the duodenum (80%) and least frequently seen in the gastric corpus. Surgical denervation studies have demonstrated that the fEPSPs with a purinergic component arise from circumferentially and aborally projecting neurons (LePard and Galligan, 1999). However, experiments on reflex responses to mucosal stimulation suggest that while descending excitation is almost exclusively purinergic (Clark et al., 1996; Spencer et al., 2000), both purinergic and nicotinic transmission are important for ascending excitation (Spencer et al., 2000).

4.5. Summary

Purinergic synaptic transmission in enteric ganglia is particularly important for descending reflex pathways in the guinea-pig (Spencer et al., 2000). Our knowledge of the receptors involved, however, is at present incomplete. The picture that emerges appears similar to that in guinea-pig sympathetic and pelvic ganglion neurons (see Sections 3.2 and 3.4), with a subpopulation of neurons expressing transient responses, while the majority have slowly desensitizing responses, and express varying levels of $\alpha\beta$ -meATP sensitive receptors. While the most prudent explanation is that these neurons express varying proportions of P2X₂, P2X₃ and P2X_{2/3} receptors, more detailed studies are required to rule out the involvement of other subunits. It also remains to be determined whether similar receptor expression, and the involvement of purinergic transmission in gastro-intestinal reflex pathways occurs in other mammalian species including humans.

5. Concluding comments

5.1. Interaction with other receptors

Autonomic and sensory neurons possess a plethora of receptors, giving rise to possibilities of interaction between different intercellular signalling pathways at the level of the receptor and at subsequent downstream events. For example, the activation of muscarinic receptors will increase the excitability of autonomic ganglion neurons by inhibition of the M-current (Adams et al., 1982). This will then enhance the excitation produced by the activation of nicotinic ACh receptors.

5.1.1. Interaction with metabotropic receptors

Many peripheral neurons possess both ionotropic P2X and metabotropic P2Y receptors. Furthermore, at least the $P2X_2$ receptor can be regulated by phosphorylation (Chow and Wang, 1998; Boue-Grabot et al., 2000). Thus, activation of P2Y receptors (or other metabotropic receptors) could modulate P2X receptor function. However, to date, no such interaction has been demonstrated.

5.1.2. Interaction with nACh receptors

Autonomic ganglion neurons express both nicotinic ACh (nACh) and P2X receptors. A number of studies have now demonstrated inhibitory interactions between these two populations of receptors. In most cases, non-additive behaviour between maximally effective concentrations of a P2X and a nACh agonist has been described (Nakazawa et al., 1991; Nakazawa, 1994; Glushakov et al., 1996; Barajas-López et al., 1998; Zhou and Galligan, 1998). However, the study of Searl et al. (1998) described cross-inhibition, where ATP responses were reduced by low concentrations of nicotine and vice versa. Furthermore, some studies have reported additive behaviour between nACh and P2X responses (Rogers et al., 1997), and even in the work of Searl et al. (1998), additivity was observed in a small number (3/29) of experiments.

The non-additive behaviour appears to be quite specific for nicotinic and purinergic receptors, since additive behaviour was observed between GABA or 5-hydroxytryptamine when coapplied with either ATP or ACh (Zhou and Galligan, 1998). Although the precise mechanisms underlying these interactions remain to be elucidated, they appear to depend upon the inward flow of current but do not require the influx of Ca^{2+} . Cytoplasmic second messengers do not appear to be involved since the effects can be observed in isolated, outside-out membrane patches. The effect has also been observed in a recombinant system, in which the nicotinic $\alpha 3\beta 4$ receptor was coexpressed with P2X₂ receptors in Xenopus oocytes (Khakh et al., 2000). However, it is at present unclear which combinations of nACh and P2X receptor subunits will permit these interactions to occur.

ATP is coreleased with ACh from the terminals of preganglionic autonomic neurons (Vizi et al., 1997). Consequently, this interaction could have quite a significant role in ganglionic transmission. One possibility is that it produces a ceiling effect on the amplitude of the EPSP. Under such circumstances, a decrease in the amount of transmitter released would result in less 'cross-inhibition', so the amplitude of the EPSP might remain almost unchanged.

5.2. Plasticity and regulation

Many autonomic and sensory neurons express at least two P2X receptor subunits, giving rise to a mixture of homomeric and heteromeric receptors, with different neurons expressing them in different proportions. Whether these receptors form by random assembly of subunits or whether the process is regulated in any way is at present unclear. In addition, it is not known whether the same complement of P2X receptors is always expressed in a given neuron, or whether it changes with time. It has been shown that the expression of P2X₃ receptors in DRG neurons can be modified by chronic nerve injury (Novakovic et al., 1999), axotomy, and by neurotrophins (Bradbury et al., 1998). However, the extent to which such changes alter the functional response to ATP is at present unclear.

5.3. Developmental aspects

Messenger RNA for the $P2X_4$ subunit is not present in autonomic ganglia of embryonic rats, although it is present in the adult (Buell et al., 1996b). Interestingly, during this period of development, there appears to be a reduction in the expression of functional P2X receptors, with almost complete loss of $P2X_3$ subunits (J. Geever and P. Dunn, unpublished information; see Fig. 6). Post-natal changes in the expression of P2X receptors have also been reported in chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla (Afework and Burnstock, 2000b). Furthermore, it is tempting to speculate that the fast synaptic response in neonatal cardiac ganglia which was resistant to cholinergic antagonists (Seabrook et al., 1990) was mediated by ATP. Thus, P2X receptors may have an important role in neuronal development and synaptogenesis. Further studies are required to address this possibility.

5.4. Summary

The properties of P2X receptors in peripheral ganglion neurons are summarized in Table 6. Although molecular biology and immunohistochemistry indicate the expression of a wide variety of P2X receptor subunits in peripheral neurons, functional studies have so far only provided conclusive evidence for the involvement of P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits. Of course, it may be that the other subunits are present but in heteromeric complexes, the properties of which are either dominated by P2X₂ and P2X₃ subunits, or that they cannot at present be distinguished by the available pharmacologi-



Fig. 6. Developmental changes in P2X responses in rat superior cervical ganglion (SCG) neurons. (A) Representative traces showing membrane currents evoked by 100 μ M ATP and 100 μ M $\alpha\beta$ -meATP recorded from SCG neurons dissociated from newborn (P1) and 17-day-old (P17) rats. (B) Histogram comparing the current density for responses to ATP 100 μ M, $\alpha\beta$ -meATP 100 μ M and the nicotinic receptor agonist dimethylphenylpiperazine (DMPP, 10 μ M) in SCG neurons at these two ages (J. Geever and P. Dunn, unpublished data).

Table 6

Summary of the properties of the predominant P2X receptors present in peripheral ganglion neurons and chromaffin cells of rat, mouse and guinea-pig

Species	Ganglion	Number of receptor populations	Properties of each P2X receptor		
			αβ-meATP sensitivity	Kinetics of the current	
Rat	DRG	Two	Type 1, Yes	Transient	
			Type 2, Yes	Persistent	
	Trigeminal	Two	Type 1, Yes	Transient	
	-		Type 2, Yes	Persistent	
	Nodose	Two	Type 1, Yes	Persistent	
			Type 2, No	Persistent	
	Petrosal	One	Yes	Persistent	
	MNV	Two	Type 1, Weak ^a	Persistent	
			Type 2, Very weak	Persistent	
	SCG	One	No ^b	Persistent	
	Coeliac	One	No	Persistent	
	Pelvic	One	No	Persistent	
	Cardiac	One	No ^c	Persistent	
	Chromaffin cells	None			
Mouse	DRG	Three	Type 1, Yes	Transient	
			Type 2, Yes	Persistent	
			Type 3, No	Persistent	
	Nodose	Two ^d	Type 1, Yes	Persistent	
			Type 2, No	Persistent	
	Coeliac	One	No	Persistent	
	Pelvic	One	No	Persistent	
Guinea-pig	SCG	Two	Type 1, Yes	Persistent	
			Type 2, No	Persistent	
	Pelvic	Three	Type 1, Yes	Transient	
			Type 2, Yes	Persistent	
			Type 3, No	Persistent	
	Enteric	Two	Type 1, Yes	Transient	
			Type 2, No	Persistent	
	Chromaffin cells	One	No	Persistent	

^a EC₅₀ = 254 μ M.

^b But see Section 5.3 and Fig. 6.

^c Small responses at high concentrations have been reported.

^d A third (transient) responses is rarely observed.

cal tools. An alternative explanation is that different P2X receptors are localized at different sites on the neuron such as the axon or nerve terminals. Since most functional studies have involved electrophysiological recording from the cell body, different receptors located elsewhere on the neuron might not be detected. Further studies using new techniques will be required to test this hypothesis.

Although this general expression pattern of $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ subunits is present throughout the neurons of neural crest origin, there is considerable heterogeneity between species, between different ganglia, and even between neurons in the same ganglia. For example, rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells express no P2X receptors, while those of the guinea-pig express only P2X₂ receptors; sensory neurons in DRG express predominantly homomeric P2X₃ receptors, while neurons in the nodose ganglion express a mixture of P2X₂ and P2X_{2/3}. The factors underlying this variation in receptor express

sion and its possible change over time are at present poorly understood. Receptor expression can be modified by neurotrophins (Bradbury et al., 1998), and there is clearly some regulation of receptor expression by developmental factors and under some pathological conditions (see Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1998). Furthermore, apart from one study on the expression of P2X receptors on DRG and spinal cord of monkey (Vulchanova et al., 1997), little is known about the pattern of P2X receptor expression in peripheral neurons of other species such as primates and humans.

The physiological role of ATP and P2X receptors in synaptic transmission in the enteric nervous system is well established. More recent work has identified an important role for ATP acting via $P2X_3$ receptors in the detection of filling in the urinary bladder of the mouse (Cockayne et al., 2000). In view of the widespread distribution of P2X receptors in peripheral neurons, the increased research into purinergic signalling generated

by these observations is likely to find additional roles, possibly during development or under pathological conditions, when P2X receptor expression may be altered.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful for the support of Roche Bioscience, Palo Alto, CA (P.M.D., G.B.), the Wellcome Trust (Y.Z.) and the British Heart Foundation (G.B.). The assistance of Mr. Roy Jordan in the preparation of this article was much appreciated.

References

- Abbracchio, M.P., Burnstock, G., 1994. Purinoceptors: are there families of P2X and P2Y purinoceptors? Pharmacol. Ther. 64, 445–475.
- Abbracchio, M.P., Burnstock, G., 1998. Purinergic signalling: pathophysiological roles. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 78, 113–145.
- Abe, Y., Sorimachi, M., Itoyama, Y., Furukawa, K., Akaike, N., 1995. ATP responses in the embryo chick ciliary ganglion cells. Neuroscience 64, 547–551.
- Adams, P.R., Brown, D.A., 1975. Actions of γ-aminobutyric acid on sympathetic ganglion cells. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 250, 85–120.
- Adams, P.R., Brown, D.A., Constanti, A., 1982. Pharmacological inhibition of the M-current. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 332, 223–262.
- Afework, M., Burnstock, G., 1999. Distribution of P2X receptors in the rat adrenal gland. Cell Tissue. Res. 298, 449–456.
- Afework, M., Burnstock, G., 2000a. Localization of P2X receptors in the guinea pig adrenal gland. Cells Tissues. Org. 167, 297–302.
- Afework, M., Burnstock, G., 2000b. Age-related changes in the localization of P2X (nucleotide) receptors in the rat adrenal gland. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 18, 515–520.
- Akasu, T., Hirai, K., Koketsu, K., 1983. Modulatory actions of ATP on membrane potentials of bullfrog sympathetic ganglion cells. Brain Res. 258, 313–317.
- Akasu, T., Shinnick-Gallagher, P., Gallagher, J.P., 1984. Adenosine mediates a slow hyperpolarizing synaptic potential in autonomic neurones. Nature 311, 62–65.
- Allen, T.G.J., Burnstock, G., 1990. The actions of adenosine 5'triphosphate on guinea-pig intracardiac neurones in culture. Br. J. Pharmacol. 100, 269–276.
- Barajas-López, C., Barrientos, M., Espinosa-Luna, R., 1993. Suramin increases the efficacy of ATP to activate an inward current in myenteric neurons from guinea-pig ileum. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 250, 141–145.
- Barajas-López, C., Espinosa-Luna, R., Gerzanich, V., 1994. ATP closes a potassium and opens a cationic conductance through different receptors in neurons of guinea pig submucous plexus. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 268, 1397–1402.
- Barajas-López, C., Huizinga, J.D., Collins, S.M., Gerzanich, V., Espinosa-Luna, R., Peres, A.L., 1996. P2x-purinoceptors of myenteric neurones from the guinea-pig ileum and their unusual pharmacological properties. Br. J. Pharmacol. 119, 1541–1548.
- Barajas-López, C., Espinosa-Luna, R., Zhu, Y., 1998. Functional interactions between nicotinic and P2X channels in short-term cultures of guinea-pig submucosal neurons. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 513, 671–683.
- Barden, J.A., Bennett, M.R., 2000. Distribution f P2X purinoceptor clusters on individual rat dorsal root ganglion cells. Neurosci. Lett. 287, 183–186.

- Bardoni, R., Goldstein, P.A., Lee, C.J., Gu, J.G., MacDermott, A.B., 1997. ATP P2X receptors mediate fast synaptic transmission in the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J. Neurosci. 17, 5297–5304.
- Bean, B.P., 1990. ATP-activated channels in rat and bullfrog sensory neurons: concentration dependence and kinetics. J. Neurosci. 10, 1–10.
- Bean, B.P., Williams, C.A., Ceelen, P.W., 1990. ATP-activated channels in rat and bullfrog sensory neurons: current-voltage relation and single-channel behavior. J. Neurosci. 10, 11–19.
- Bland-Ward, P.A., Humphrey, P.P.A., 1997. Acute nociception mediate by hindpaw P2X receptor activation in the rat. Br. J. Pharmacol. 122, 365–371.
- Bland-Ward, P.A., Humphrey, P.P.A., 2000. P2X receptors mediate ATP-induced primary nociceptive neurone activation. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 81, 146–151.
- Bleehen, T., Keele, C.A., 1977. Observations on the algogenic actions of adenosine compounds on human blister base preparation. Pain 3, 367–377.
- Bleehen, T., Hobbiger, F., Keele, C.A., 1976. Identification of algogenic substances in human erythrocytes. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 262, 131–149.
- Bo, X., Zhang, Y., Nassar, M., Burnstock, G., Schoepfer, R., 1995. A P2X purinoceptor cDNA conferring a novel pharmacological profile. FEBS Lett. 375, 129–133.
- Bo, X., Alavi, A., Xiang, Z., Oglesby, I., Ford, A., Burnstock, G., 1999. Localization of ATP-gated P2X2 and P2X 3 receptor immunoreactive nerves in rat taste buds. Neuroreport 10, 1107– 1111.
- Bo, X., Schoepfer, R., Burnstock, G., 2000. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel ATP P2X receptor subtype from embryonic chick skeletal muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 14401– 14407.
- Boehm, S., 1999. ATP stimulates sympathetic transmitter release via presynaptic P2X purinoceptors. J. Neurosci. 19, 737–746.
- Bofill-Cardona, E., Vartian, N., Nanoff, C., Freissmuth, M., Boehm, S., 2000. Two different signaling mechanisms involved in the excitation of rat sympathetic neurons by uridine nucleotides. Mol. Pharmacol. 57, 1165–1172.
- Borison, H.L., Hawken, M.J., Hubbard, J.I., Sirett, N.E., 1975. Unit activity from cat area postrema influenced by drugs. Brain Res. 92, 153–156.
- Bormann, J., Clapham, D.E., 1985. Aminobutyric acid receptor channels in adrenal chromaffin cells: a patch-clamp study. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82, 2168–2172.
- Bossu, J.L., De Waard, M., Feltz, A., 1991. Two types of calcium channels are expressed in adult bovine chromaffin cells. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 437, 621–634.
- Boue-Grabot, E., Archambault, V., Séguéla, P., 2000. A protein kinase C site highly conserved in P2X subunits controls the desensitization kinetics of P2X₂ ATP-gated channels. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 10190–10195.
- Bouvier, M.M., Evans, M.L., Benham, C.D., 1991. Calcium influx induced by stimulation of ATP receptors on neurons cultured from rat dorsal root ganglia. Eur. J. Neurosci. 3, 285–291.
- Bradbury, E.J., Burnstock, G., McMahon, S.B., 1998. The expression of P2X₃ purinoceptors in sensory neurons: effects of axotomy and glial-derived neurotrophic factor. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 12, 256– 268.
- Brake, A.J., Wagenbach, M.J., Julius, D., 1994. New structural motif for ligand-gated ion channels defined by an ionotropic ATP receptor. Nature 371, 519–523.
- Brändle, U., Spielmanns, P., Osteroth, R., Sim, J., Surprenant, A., Buell, G., Ruppersberg, J.P., Plinkert, P.K., Zenner, H.P., Glowatzki, E., 1997. Desensitization of the P2X₂ receptor controlled by alternative splicing. FEBS Lett. 404, 294–298.
- Brown, D.A., Caulfield, M.P., Kirby, P.J., 1979. Relation between catecholamine-induced cyclic AMP changes and hyperpolariza-

tion in isolated rat sympathetic ganglia. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 290, $441{-}451.$

- Buell, G., Collo, G., Rassendren, F., 1996a. P2X receptors: an emerging channel family. Eur. J. Neurosci. 8, 2221–2228.
- Buell, G., Lewis, C., Collo, G., North, R.A., Surprenant, A., 1996b. An antagonist-insensitive P2X receptor expressed in epithelia and brain. EMBO J. 15, 55–62.
- Burgard, E.C., Niforatos, W., van Biesen, T., Lynch, K.J., Touma, E., Metzger, R.E., Kowaluk, E.A., Jarvis, M.F., 1999. P2X receptor-mediated ionic currents in dorsal root ganglion neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 82, 1590–1598.
- Burnstock, G., 1972. Purinergic nerves. Pharmacol. Rev. 24, 509– 581.
- Burnstock, G., 1977. Purine nucleotides and nucleosides as neurotransmitters or neuromodulators in the central nervous system. In: Usdin, E., Hamburg, D.A., Barchas, J.D. (Eds.), Neuroregulators and Psychiatric Disorders. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 470–477.
- Burnstock, G., 1978. A basis for distinguishing two types of purinergic receptor. In: Straub, R.W., Bolis, L. (Eds.), Cell Membrane Receptors for Drugs and Hormones: A Multidisciplinary Approach. Raven Press, New York, pp. 107–118.
- Burnstock, G., 1997. History of extracellular nucleotides and their receptors. In: Turner, J.T., Weisman, G., Fedan, J.S. (Eds.), The P2 Nucleotide Receptors. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 3–40.
- Burnstock, G., 2000. P2X receptors in sensory neurones. Br. J. Anaesth. 84, 476–488.
- Burnstock, G., Kennedy, C., 1985. Is there a basis for distinguishing two types of P2-purinoceptor? Gen. Pharmacol. 16, 433–440.
- Burnstock, G., Wood, J.N., 1996. Purinergic receptors: their role in nociception and primary afferent neurotransmission. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 6, 526–532.
- Burnstock, G., Campbell, G., Satchell, D., Smythe, A., 1970. Evidence that adenosine triphosphate or a related nucleotide is the transmitter substance released by non-adrenergic inhibitory nerves in the gut. Br. J. Pharmacol. 40, 668–688.
- Burnstock, G., Allen, T.G.J., Hassall, C.J.S., Pittam, B.S., 1987. Properties of intramural neurones cultured from the heart and bladder. In: Heym, C. (Ed.), Histochemistry and Cell Biology of Autonomic Neurons and Paraganglia. Exp. Brain Res. Ser. 16. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 323–328.
- Chen, C.C., Akopian, A.N., Sivilotti, L., Colquhoun, D., Burnstock, G., Wood, J.N., 1995. A P2X purinoceptor expressed by a subset of sensory neurons. Nature 377, 428–431.
- Chen, C., Parker, M.S., Barnes, A.P., Deininger, P., Bobbin, R.P., 2000. Functional expression of three P2X₂ receptor splice variants from guinea pig cochlea. J. Neurophysiol. 83, 1502–1509.
- Chow, Y.W., Wang, H.L., 1998. Functional modulation of P2X₂ receptors by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. J. Neurochem. 70, 2606–2612.
- Christofi, F.L., Guan, Z., Wood, J.D., Baidan, L.V., Stokes, B.T., 1997. Purinergic Ca²⁺ signaling in myenteric neurons via P2 purinoceptors. Am. J. Physiol. 272, G463–G473.
- Clark, S.R., Costa, M., Tonini, M., Brookes, S.J., 1996. Purinergic transmission is involved in a descending excitatory reflex in the guinea-pig small intestine. Proc. Aust. Neurosci. Soc. 7, 176.
- Cloues, R., 1995. Properties of ATP-gated channels recorded from rat sympathetic neurons: voltage dependence and regulation by Zn²⁺ ions. J. Neurophysiol. 73, 312–319.
- Cloues, R., Jones, S., Brown, D.A., 1993. Zn²⁺ potentiates ATP-activated currents in rat sympathetic neurons. Pflugers Arch. 424, 152–158.
- Cockayne, D.A., Hamilton, S.G., Zhu, Q.-M., Dunn, P.M., Zhong, Y., Novakovic, S., Malmberg, A.B., Cain, G., Berson, A., Kassotakis, L., Hedley, L., Lachnit, W.G., Burnstock, G., McMahon, S.B., Ford, A.P.D.W., 2000. Urinary bladder hyporeflexia and reduced pain-related behaviour in P2X₃-deficient mice. Nature 407, 1011–1015.

- Collo, G., North, R.A., Kawashima, E., Merlo-Pich, E., Neidhart, S., Surprenant, A., Buell, G., 1996. Cloning of P2X₅ and P2X₆ receptors and the distribution and properties of an extended family of ATP-gated ion channels. J. Neurosci. 16, 2495–2507.
- Connolly, G.P., Harrison, P.J., 1994. Reactive blue 2 discriminates between responses mediated by UTP and those evoked by ATP or α , β -methylene-ATP on rat sympathetic ganglia. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 259, 95–99.
- Cook, S.P., McCleskey, E.W., 1997. Desensitization, recovery and Ca²⁺-dependent modulation of ATP-gated P2X receptors in nociceptors. Neuropharmacology 36, 1303–1308.
- Cook, S.P., Vulchanova, L., Hargreaves, K.M., Elde, R., McCleskey, E.W., 1997. Distinct ATP receptors on pain-sensing and stretchsensing neurons. Nature 387, 505–508.
- Cook, S.P., Rodland, K.D., McCleskey, E.W., 1998. A memory for extracellular Ca²⁺ by speeding recovery of P2X receptors from desensitization. J. Neurosci. 18, 9238–9244.
- Coutts, A.A., Jorizzo, J.L., Eady, R.A.J., Greaves, M.W., Burnstock, G., 1981. Adenosine triphosphate-evoked vascular changes in human skin: mechanism of action. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 76, 391– 401.
- Currie, K.P., Fox, A.P., 1996. ATP serves as a negative feedback inhibitor of voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channel currents in cultured bovine adrenal chromaffin cells. Neuron 16, 1027–1036.
- Davies, A.M., 1996. The neurotrophic hypothesis: where does it stand? Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B, Biol. Sci. 351, 389–394.
- Ding, S., Sachs, F., 2000. Inactivation of P2X₂ purinoceptors by divalent cations. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 522, 199–214.
- Diverse-Pierluissi, M., Dunlap, K., Westhead, E.W., 1991. Multiple actions of extracellular ATP on calcium currents in cultured bovine chromaffin cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 1261– 1265.
- Dowd, E., Gallar, J., McQueen, D.S., Chessell, I.P., Humphrey, P.P.A., Belmonte, C., 1997. Nociceptors of the cat and rat cornea are not excited by P2X purinoceptor agonists. Br. J. Pharmacol. 122, 348P.
- Dowd, E., McQueen, D.S., Chessell, I.P., Humphrey, P.P.A., 1998. P2X receptor-mediated excitation of nociceptive afferents in the normal and arthritic rat knee joint. Br. J. Pharmacol. 125, 341– 346.
- Drury, A.N., Szent-Györgyi, A., 1929. The physiological activity of adenine compounds with special reference to their action upon the mammalian heart. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 68, 213–237.
- Dunn, P.M., Liu, M., Zhong, Y., King, B.F., Burnstock, G., 2000. Diinosine pentaphosphate: an antagonist which discriminates between recombinant P2X₃ and P2X_{2/3} receptors and between two P2X receptors in rat sensory neurones. Br. J. Pharmacol. 130, 1378–1384.
- Dutton, J.L., Poronnik, P., Li, G.H., Holding, C.A., Worthington, R.A., Vandenberg, R.J., Cook, D.I., Barden, J.A., Bennett, M.R., 2000. P2X₁ receptor membrane redistribution and down-regulation visualized by using receptor-coupled green fluorescent protein chimeras. Neuropharmacology 39, 2054–2066.
- Edwards, F.A., Gibb, A.J., Colquhoun, D., 1992. ATP receptor-mediated synaptic currents in the central nervous system. Nature 359, 144–147.
- Evans, R.J., Surprenant, A., 1996. P2X receptors in autonomic and sensory neurons. Semin. Neurosci. 8, 217–225.
- Evans, R.J., Derkach, V., Surprenant, A., 1992. ATP mediates fast synaptic transmission in mammalian neurons. Nature 357, 503– 505.
- Feldberg, W., Hebb, C., 1948. The stimulating action of phosphate compounds on the perfused superior cervical ganglion of the cat. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 107, 210–221.
- Feldberg, W., Sherwood, S.L., 1954. Injection of drugs into the lateral ventricle of the cat. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 123, 148–167.

- Felix, B., Catalin, D., Miolan, J.P., Neil, J.P., 1998. Integrative properties of the major pelvic ganglion in the rat. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 69, 6–11.
- Ferguson, D.R., Kennedy, I., Burton, T.J., 1997. ATP is released from rabbit urinary bladder epithelial cells by hydrostatic pressure changes — a possible sensory mechanism? J. Physiol. (Lond.) 505, 503–511.
- Fieber, L.A., Adams, D.J., 1991. Adenosine triphosphate-evoked currents in cultured neurones dissociated from rat parasympathetic cardiac ganglia. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 434, 239–256.
- Fyffe, R.E.W., Perl, E.R., 1984. Is ATP a central synaptic mediator for certain primary afferent fibres from mammalian skin? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81, 6890–6893.
- Galligan, J.J., Bertrand, P.P., 1994. ATP mediates fast synaptic potentials in enteric neurons. J. Neurosci. 14, 7563–7571.
- Glushakov, A.V., Melishchuk, A.I., Skok, V.I., 1996. ATP-induced currents in submucous plexus neurons of the guinea-pig small intestine. Neurophysiology (Moscow) 28, 77–85.
- Glushakov, A.V., Glushakova, H.Y., Skok, V.I., 1998. Two types of P2X-purinoceptors in neurons of the guinea pig ileum submucous plexus. Neurophysiology (Moscow) 30, 242–245.
- Gross, R.A., Macdonald, R.L., 1987. Dynorphin A selectively reduces a large transient (N-type) calcium current of mouse dorsal root ganglion neurons in cell culture. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84, 5469–5473.
- Grubb, B.D., Evans, R.J., 1999. Characterization of cultured dorsal root ganglion neuron P2X receptors. Eur. J. Neurosci. 11, 149– 154.
- Gu, J.G., MacDermott, A.B., 1997. Activation of ATP P2X receptors elicits glutamate release from sensory neuron synapses. Nature 389, 749–753.
- Guo, A., Vulchanova, L., Wang, J., Li, X., Elde, R., 1999. Immunocytochemical localization of the vanilloid receptor 1 (VR₁): relationship to neuropeptides, the P2X₃ purinoceptor and IB4 binding sites. Eur. J. Neurosci. 11, 946–958.
- Hamilton, S.G., McMahon, S.B., 2000. ATP as a peripheral mediator of pain. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 81, 187–194.
- Hamilton, S.G., Wade, A., McMahon, S.B., 1999. The effects of inflammation and inflammatory mediators on nociceptive behaviour induced by ATP analogues in the rat. Br. J. Pharmacol. 126, 326–332.
- Hamilton, S.G., Warburton, J., Bhattachajee, A., Ward, J., McMahon, S.B., 2000. ATP in human skin elicits a dose-related pain response which is potentiated under conditions of hyperalgesia. Brain 123, 1238–1246.
- Hollins, B., Ikeda, S.R., 1997. Heterologous expression of a P2x-purinoceptor in rat chromaffin cells detects vesicular ATP release. J. Neurophysiol. 78, 3069–3076.
- Holton, P., 1959. The liberation of adenosine triphosphate on antidromic stimulation of sensory nerves. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 145, 494–504.
- Hugel, S., Schlichter, R., 2000. Presynaptic P2X receptors facilitate inhibitory GABAergic transmission between cultured rat spinal cord dorsal horn neurons. J. Neurosci. 20, 2121–2130.
- Inokuchi, H., McLachlan, E.M., 1995. Lack of evidence for P2Xpurinoceptor involvement in fast synaptic responses in intact sympathetic ganglia isolated from guinea-pigs. Neuroscience 69, 651–659.
- Jahr, C.E., Jessell, T.M., 1983. ATP excites a subpopulation of rat dorsal horn neurones. Nature 304, 730–733.
- Jarvis, M.F., Wismer, C.T., Schweitzer, E., Yu, H., van Biesen, T., Lynch, K.J., Burgard, E.C., Kowaluk, E.A., 2001. Modulation of BzATP and formalin induced nociception: attenuation by the P2X receptor antagonist, TNP-ATP and enhancement by the P2X₃ allosteric modulator, Cibacron blue. Br. J. Pharmacol. 132, 259– 269.

- Jo, Y.H., Schlichter, R., 1999. Synaptic corelease of ATP and GABA in cultured spinal neurons. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 241–245.
- Kamiji, T., Morita, K., Katayama, Y., 1994. ATP regulates synaptic transmission by pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms in guinea-pig myenteric neurons. Neuroscience 59, 165–174.
- Kanjhan, R., Housley, G.D., Burton, L.D., Christie, D.L., Kippenberger, A., Thorne, P.R., Luo, L., Ryan, A.F., 1999. Distribution of the P2X₂ receptor subunit of the ATP-gated ion channels in the rat central nervous system. J. Comp. Neurol. 407, 11–32.
- Katayama, Y., Morita, K., 1989. Adenosine 5'-triphosphate modulates membrane potassium conductance in guinea-pig myenteric neurones. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 408, 373–390.
- Keast, J.R., 1995. Visualization and immunohistochemical characterization of sympathetic and parasympathetic neurons in the male rat major pelvic ganglion. Neuroscience 66, 655–662.
- Khakh, B.S., Henderson, G., 1998. ATP receptor-mediated enhancement of fast excitatory neurotransmitter release in the brain. Mol. Pharmacol. 54, 372–378.
- Khakh, B.S., Henderson, G., 2000. Modulation of fast synaptic transmission by presynaptic ligand-gated cation channels. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 81, 110–121.
- Khakh, B.S., Humphrey, P.P.A., Surprenant, A., 1995. Electrophysiological properties of P2x-purinoceptors in rat superior cervical, nodose and guinea-pig coeliac neurones. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 484, 385–395.
- Khakh, B.S., Humphrey, P.P.A., Henderson, G., 1997. ATP-gated cation channels (P2X purinoceptors) in trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus neurons of the rat. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 498, 709–715.
- Khakh, B.S., Proctor, W.R., Dunwiddie, T.V., Labarca, C., Lester, H.A., 1999a. Allosteric control of gating and kinetics at P2X₄ receptor channels. J. Neurosci. 19, 7289–7299.
- Khakh, B.S., Bao, X.R., Labarca, C., Lester, H.A., 1999b. Neuronal P2X transmitter-gated cation channels change their ion selectivity in seconds. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 322–330.
- Khakh, B.S., Zhou, X., Sydes, J., Galligan, J.J., Lester, H.A., 2000. State-dependent cross-inhibition between transmitter-gated cation channels. Nature 406, 405–410.
- Khakh, B.S., Burnstock, G., Kennedy, C., King, B.F., North, R.A., Séguéla, P., Voigt, M., Humphrey, P.P.A., 2001. International Union of Pharmacology. XXIV. Current status of the nomenclature and properties of P2X receptors and their subunits. Pharmacol. Rev. 53, 107–118.
- Kim, M., Yoo, O.J., Choe, S., 1997. Molecular assembly of the extracellular domain of P2X₂, an ATP-gated ion channel. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 240, 618–622.
- Kimball, B.C., Mulholland, M.W., 1995. Neuroligands evoke calcium signaling in cultured myenteric neurons. Surgery 118, 162–169.
- Kimball, B.C., Yule, D.I., Mulholland, M.W., 1996. Extracellular ATP mediates Ca²⁺ signaling in cultured myenteric neurons via a PLC-dependent mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. 270, G587–G593.
- King, B.F., Ziganshina, L.E., Pintor, J., Burnstock, G., 1996. Full sensitivity of P2X₂ purinoceptor to ATP revealed by changing extracellular pH. Br. J. Pharmacol. 117, 1371–1373.
- King, B.F., Liu, M., Pintor, J., Gualix, J., Miras-Portugal, M.T., Burnstock, G., 1999. Diinosine pentaphosphate (IP_5I) is a potent antagonist at recombinant rat $P2X_1$ receptors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 128, 981–988.
- King, B.F., Townsend-Nicholson, A., Wildman, S.S., Thomas, T., Spyer, K.M., Burnstock, G., 2000. Coexpression of rat P2X₂ and P2X₆ subunits in *Xenopus* oocytes. J. Neurosci. 20, 4871–4877.
- Kirkup, A.J., Booth, C.E., Chessell, I.P., Humphrey, P.P.A., Grundy, D., 1999. Excitatory effect of P2X receptor activation on mesenteric afferent nerves in the anaesthetised rat. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 520, 551–563.
- Kress, M., Guenther, S., 1999. Role of [Ca²⁺]_i in the ATP-induced heat sensitization process of rat nociceptive neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 81, 2612–2619.

- Krishtal, O.A., Marchenko, S.M., Pidoplichko, V.I., 1983. Receptor for ATP in the membrane of mammalian sensory neurones. Neurosci. Lett. 35, 41–45.
- Krishtal, O.A., Marchenko, S.M., Obukhov, A.G., Volkova, T.M., 1988. Receptors for ATP in rat sensory neurones: the structure– function relationship for ligands. Br. J. Pharmacol. 95, 1057– 1062.
- Labrakakis, C., Gerstner, E., MacDermott, A.B., 2000. Adenosine triphosphate-evoked currents in cultured dorsal root ganglion neurons obtained from rat embryos: desensitization kinetics and modulation of glutamate release. Neuroscience 101, 1117–1126.
- Lê, K.T., Babinski, K., Séguéla, P., 1998. Central P2X₄ and P2X₆ channel subunits coassemble into a novel heteromeric ATP receptor. J. Neurosci. 18, 7152–7159.
- LePard, K.J., Galligan, J.J., 1999. Analysis of fast synaptic pathways in myenteric plexus of guinea pig ileum. Am. J. Physiol. 276, G529-G538.
- LePard, K.J., Messori, E., Galligan, J.J., 1997. Purinergic fast excitatory postsynaptic potentials in myenteric neurons of guinea pig: distribution and pharmacology. Gastroenterology 113, 1522– 1534.
- Lewis, C., Neidhart, S., Holy, C., North, R.A., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., 1995. Coexpression of P2X₂ and P2X₃ receptor subunits can account for ATP-gated currents in sensory neurons. Nature 377, 432–435.
- Li, J., Perl, E.R., 1995. ATP modulation of synaptic transmission in the spinal substantia gelatinosa. J. Neurosci. 15, 3357–3365.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Li, Z., Weight, F.F., 1993. Zn²⁺ potentiates excitatory action of ATP on mammalian neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 8264–8267.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Weight, F.F., 1996a. Acid pH augments excitatory action of ATP on a dissociated mammalian sensory neuron. Neuroreport 7, 2151–2154.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Weight, F.F., 1996b. Proton potentiation of ATP-gated ion channel responses to ATP and Zn²⁺ in rat nodose ganglion neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 76, 3048–3058.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Weight, F.F., 1997a. Enhancement of ATP-activated current by protons in dorsal root ganglion neurons. Pflugers Arch. 433, 446–454.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Weight, F.F., 1997b. Mg²⁺ inhibition of ATP-activated current in rat nodose ganglion neurons: evidence that Mg²⁺ decreases the agonist affinity of the receptor. J. Neurophysiol. 77, 3391–3395.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Weight, F.F., 1997c. Inhibition of ATP-activated current by zinc in dorsal root ganglion neurones of bullfrog. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 505, 641–653.
- Li, P., Calejesan, A.A., Zhou, M., 1998. ATP P2X receptors and sensory synaptic transmission between primary afferent fibers and spinal dorsal horn neurons in rats. J. Neurophysiol. 80, 3356– 3360.
- Li, C., Peoples, R.W., Lanthorn, T.H., Li, Z.W., Weight, F.F., 1999. Distinct ATP-activated currents in different types of neurons dissociated from rat dorsal root ganglion. Neurosci. Lett. 263, 57–60.
- Li, G.H., Lee, E.M., Blair, D., Holding, C., Poronnik, P., Cook, D.C., Barden, J.A., Bennett, M.R., 2000. The disposition of P2x receptor clusters on individual neurons in sympathetic ganglia and their redistribution on agonist activation. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 29107–29112.
- Liem, R.S., Copray, J.C., van Willigen, J.D., 1991. Ultrastructure of the rat mesencephalic trigeminal nucleus. Acta Anat. 140, 112– 119.
- Lindsay, R.M., 1996. Role of neurotrophins and trk receptors in the development and maintenance of sensory neurons: an overview. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B, Biol. Sci. 351, 365–373.
- Liu, M., Dunn, P.M., King, B.F., Burnstock, G., 1999. Rat chromaffin cells lack P2X receptors while those of the guinea-pig

express a receptor with novel pharmacology. Br. J. Pharmacol. 128, 61-68.

- Liu, M., King, B.F., Dunn, P.M., Rong, W., Townsend-Nicholson, A., Burnstock, G., 2001. Coexpression of $P2X_3$ and $P2X_2$ receptor subunits in varying amounts generates heterogenous populations of P2X receptors that evoke a spectrum of agonist responses comparable to that seen in sensory neurons. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 296, 1043–1050.
- Llewellyn-Smith, I.J., Burnstock, G., 1998. Ultrastructural localization of P2X₃ receptors in rat sensory neurons. NeuroReport 9, 2245–2250.
- MacKenzie, A.B., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., 1999. Functional and molecular diversity of purinergic ion channel receptors. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 868, 716–729.
- McQueen, D.S., Bond, S.M., Moores, C., Chessell, I., Humphrey, P.P.A., Dowd, E., 1998. Activation of P2X receptors for adenosine triphosphate evokes cardiorespiratory reflexes in anaesthetized rats. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 507, 843–855.
- Matthews, B., Li, F., Khakh, B.S., Vongsavan, N., 1997. Effects of ATP on sensory receptors in the dental pulp of cats. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 504, 128P.
- Nakazawa, K., 1994. ATP-activated current and its interaction with acetylcholine-activated current in rat sympathetic neurons. J. Neurosci. 14, 740–750.
- Nakazawa, K., Fujimori, K., Takanaka, A., Inoue, K., 1991. Comparison of adenosine triphosphate-activated and nicotine-activated inward currents in rat pheochromocytoma cells. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 434, 647–660.
- Namasivayam, S., Eardley, I., Morrison, J.F.B., 1999. Purinergic sensory neurotransmission in the urinary bladder: an in vitro study in the rat. BJU Int. 84, 854–860.
- Nicke, A., Baumert, H.G., Rettinger, J., Eichele, A., Lambrecht, G., Mutschler, E., Schmalzing, G., 1998. P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors form stable trimers: a novel structural motif of ligand-gated ion channels. EMBO J. 17, 3016–3028.
- Nieber, K., Poelchen, W., Illes, P., 1997. Role of ATP in fast excitatory synaptic potentials in locus coeruleus neurones of the rat. Br. J. Pharmacol. 122, 423–430.
- Nishimura, T., Tokimasa, T., 1996. Purinergic cation channels in neurons of rabbit vesical parasympathetic ganglia. Neurosci. Lett. 212, 215–217.
- North, R.A., Surprenant, A., 2000. Pharmacology of cloned P2X receptors. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 40, 563–580.
- Novakovic, S.D., Kassotakis, L.C., Oglesby, I.B., Smith, J.A.M., Eglen, R.M., Ford, A.P.D.W., Hunter, J.C., 1999. Immunocytochemical localization of P2X₃ purinoceptors in sensory neurons in naive rats and following neuropathic injury. Pain 80, 273–282.
- Nuttle, L.C., Dubyak, G.R., 1994. Differential activation of cation channels and non-selective pores by macrophage P2z purinergic receptors expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 13988–13996.
- Otsuguro, K., Asano, T., Ohta, T., Ito, S., Nakazato, Y., 1995. ATP-evoked membrane current in guinea pig adrenal chromaffin cells. Neurosci. Lett. 187, 145–148.
- Page, A.J., O'Donnell, T.A., Blackshaw, L.A., 2000. P2X purinoceptor-induced sensitization of ferret vagal mechanoreceptors in oesophageal inflammation. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 523, 403–411.
- Pankratov, Y., Lalo, U., Castro, E., Miras-Portugal, M.T., Krishtal, O., 1999. ATP receptor-mediated component of the excitatory synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. Prog. Brain Res. 120, 237–249.
- Parker, K.E., 1998. Modulation of ATP-gated non-selective cation channel ($P2X_1$ receptor) activation and desensitization by the actin cytoskeleton. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 510, 19–25.
- Patel, M.K., Khakh, B.S., Henderson, G., 2001. Properties of native P2X receptors in rat trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus neurones: lack of correlation with known, heterologously expressed P2X receptors. Neuropharmacology 40, 96–105.

- Pelleg, A., Hurt, C.M., 1996. Mechanism of action of ATP on canine pulmonary vagal C fibre nerve terminals. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 490, 265–275.
- Petruska, J.C., Cooper, B.Y., Johnson, R.D., Gu, J.G., 2000a. Distribution patterns of different P2x receptor phenotypes in acutely dissociated dorsal root ganglion neurons of adult rats. Exp. Brain Res. 134, 126–132.
- Petruska, J.C., Mena, N., Nakatsuka, T., Cooper, B.Y., Johnson, R.D., Gu, J.G., 2000b. P2X₁ receptor subunit immunoreactivity and ATP-evoked fast currents in adult rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. NeuroReport 11, 3589–3592.
- Petruska, J.C., Napaporn, J., Johnson, R.D., Gu, J.G., Cooper, B.Y., 2000c. Subclassified acutely dissociated cells of rat DRG: histochemistry and patterns of capsaicin-, proton-, and ATP-activated currents. J. Neurophysiol. 84, 2365–2379.
- Petruska, J.C., Cooper, B.Y., Gu, J.G., Rau, K.K., Johnson, R.D., 2000d. Distribution of P2X₁, P2X₂, and P2X₃ receptor subunits in rat primary afferents: relation to population markers and specific cell types. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 20, 141–162.
- Phillis, J.W., Edstrom, J.P., 1976. Effects of adenosine on rat cerebral cortical neurons. Life Sci. 19, 1041–1053.
- Piper, A.S., Docherty, R.J., 2000. One-way cross-desensitization between P2X purinoceptors and vanilloid receptors in adult rat dorsal root ganglion neurones. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 523, 685–696.
- Purinton, P.T., Fletcher, T.F., Bradley, W.E., 1973. Gross and light microscopic features of the pelvic plexus in the rat. Anat. Rec. 175, 697–705.
- Rae, M.G., Rowan, E.G., Kennedy, C., 1998. Pharmacological properties of P2X₃-receptors present in neurones of the rat dorsal root ganglia. Br. J. Pharmacol. 124, 176–180.
- Ralevic, V., Burnstock, G., 1998. Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. Pharmacol. Rev. 50, 413–492.
- Ramer, M.S., Bisby, M.A., 1997. Rapid sprouting of sympathetic axons in dorsal root ganglia of rats with a chronic constriction injury. Pain 70, 237–244.
- Reekie, F.M., Burnstock, G., 1994. Some effects of purines on neurones of guinea-pig superior cervical ganglia. Gen. Pharmacol. 25, 143–148.
- Reichsman, F., Santos, S., Westhead, E.W., 1995. Two distinct ATP receptors activate calcium entry and internal calcium release in bovine chromaffin cells. J. Neurochem. 65, 2080–2086.
- Rhee, J.S., Wang, Z.M., Nabekura, J., Inoue, K., Akaike, N., 2000. ATP facilitates spontaneous glycinergic IPSC frequency at dissociated rat dorsal horn interneuron synapses. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 524, 471–483.
- Robertson, S.J., Rae, M.G., Rowan, E.G., Kennedy, C., 1996. Characterization of a P2X-purinoceptor in cultured neurones of the rat dorsal root ganglia. Br. J. Pharmacol. 118, 951–956.
- Rogers, M., Colquhoun, L.M., Patrick, J.W., Dani, J.A., 1997. Calcium flux through predominantly independent purinergic ATP and nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 77, 1407– 1417.
- Rong, W., Burnstock, G., Spyer, K.M., 2000. P2X purinoceptor-mediated excitation of trigeminal lingual nerve terminals in an in vitro intra-arterially perfused rat tongue preparation. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 524, 891–902.
- Salter, M.W., Henry, J.L., 1985. Effects of adenosine 5'-monophosphate and adenosine 5'-triphosphate on functionally identified units in the cat spinal dorsal horn. Evidence for a differential effect of adenosine 5'-triphosphate on nociceptive vs non-nociceptive units. Neuroscience 15, 815–825.
- Sawynok, J., Reid, A., 1997. Peripheral adenosine 5'-triphosphate enhances nociception in the formalin test via activation of a purinergic P2X receptor. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 330, 115–121.
- Sawynok, J., Sweeney, M.I., 1989. The role of purines in nociception. Neuroscience 32, 557–569.

- Schilling, W.P., Wasylyna, T., Dubyak, G.R., Humphreys, B.D., Sinkins, W.G., 1999. Maitotoxin and P2Z/P2X₇ purinergic receptor stimulation activate a common cytolytic pore. Am. J. Physiol. 277, C766–C776.
- Seabrook, G.R., Fieber, L.A., Adams, D.J., 1990. Neurotransmission in neonatal rat cardiac ganglion in situ. Am. J. Physiol. 259, H997–H1005.
- Searl, T.J., Redman, R.S., Silinsky, E.M., 1998. Mutual occlusion of P2X ATP receptors and nicotinic receptors on sympathetic neurons of the guinea-pig. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 510, 783–791.
- Siggins, G.R., Gruol, D.L., Padjen, A.L., Formans, D.S., 1977. Purine and pyrimidine mononucleotides depolarise neurones of explanted amphibian sympathetic ganglia. Nature 270, 263–265.
- Silinsky, E.M., Gerzanich, V., 1993. On the excitatory effects of ATP and its role as a neurotransmitter in coeliac neurons of the guinea-pig. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 464, 197–212.
- Simon, J., Kidd, E.J., Smith, F.M., Chessell, I.P., Murrell-Lagnado, R., Humphrey, P.P.A., Barnard, E.A., 1997. Localization and functional expression of splice variants of the P2X₂ receptor. Mol. Pharmacol. 52, 237–248.
- Snider, W.D., 1994. Functions of the neurotrophins during nervous system development: what the knockouts are teaching us. Cell 77, 627–638.
- Soto, F., Garcia, G.M., Gomez-Hernandez, J.M., Hollmann, M., Karschin, C., Stuhmer, W., 1996. P2X₄: an ATP-activated ionotropic receptor cloned from rat brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 3684–3688.
- Souslova, V., Cesare, P., Ding, Y., Akopian, A.N., Stanfa, L., Dickenson, A., Suzuki, R., Carpenter, K., Boyce, S., Hill, R., Nebenius-Oosthuizen, D., Smith, A.J.H., Kidd, E.J., Wood, J.N., 2000. Warm-coding deficits and aberrant inflammatory pain in mice lacking P2X₃ receptors. Nature 407, 1015–1017.
- Spencer, N.J., Walsh, M., Smith, T.K., 2000. Purinergic and cholinergic neuro-neuronal transmission underlying reflexes activated by mucosal stimulation in the isolated guinea-pig ileum. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 522, 321–331.
- Sperlágh, B., Erdelyi, F., Szabo, G., Vizi, E.S., 2000. Local regulation of [³H]-noradrenaline release from the isolated guinea-pig right atrium by P2X-receptors located on axon terminals. Br. J. Pharmacol. 131, 1775–1783.
- Stebbing, M.J., McLachlan, E.M., Sah, P., 1998. Are there functional P2X receptors on cell bodies in intact dorsal root ganglia of rats? Neuroscience 86, 1235–1244.
- Stoop, R., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., 1997. Different sensitivities to pH of ATP-induced currents at four cloned P2X receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 78, 1837–1840.
- Stoop, R., Thomas, S., Rassendren, F., Kawashima, E., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., 1999. Contribution of individual subunits to the multimeric P2X₂ receptor: estimates based on methanethiosulfonate block at T336C. Mol. Pharmacol. 56, 973– 981.
- Surprenant, A., Rassendren, F., Kawashima, E., North, R.A., Buell, G., 1996. The cytolytic P2Z receptor for extracellualr ATP identified as a P2X receptor (P2X₇). Science 272, 735–738.
- Theobald, R.J. Jr., de Groat, W.C., 1977. The effects of ATP and related adenine derivatives on the superior cervical ganglion (SCG) of the rat. Fed. Proc. 36, 290.
- Theobald, R.J. Jr., de Groat, W.C., 1989. The effects of purine nucleotides on transmission in vesical parasympathetic ganglia of the cat. J. Auton. Pharmacol. 9, 167–182.
- Thomas, S., Virginio, C., North, R.A., Surprenant, A., 1998. The antagonist trinitrophenyl-ATP reveals co-existence of distinct P2X receptor channels in rat nodose neurones. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 509, 411–417.
- Torres, G.E., Haines, W.R., Egan, T.M., Voigt, M.M., 1998. Co-expression of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_5$ receptor subunits reveals a novel ATP-gated ion channel. Mol. Pharmacol. 54, 989–993.

- Torres, G.E., Egan, T.M., Voigt, M.M., 1999. Hetero-oligomeric assembly of P2X receptor subunits. Specificities exist with regard to possible partners. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 6653–6659.
- Townsend-Nicholson, A., King, B.F., Wildman, S.S., Burnstock, G., 1999. Molecular cloning, functional characterization and possible cooperativity between the murine P2X₄ and P2X_{4a} receptors. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 64, 246–254.
- Tsuda, M., Ueno, S., Inoue, K., 1999a. In vivo pathway of thermal hyperalgesia by intrathecal administration of α,β-methylene ATP in mouse spinal cord: involvement of the glutamate-NMDA receptor system. Br. J. Pharmacol. 127, 449–456.
- Tsuda, M., Ueno, S., Inoue, K., 1999b. Evidence for the involvement of spinal endogenous ATP and P2X receptors in nociceptive responses caused by formalin and capsaicin in mice. Br. J. Pharmacol. 128, 1497–1504.
- Tsuda, M., Koizumi, S., Kita, A., Shigemoto, Y., Ueno, S., Inoue, K., 2000. Mechanical allodynia caused by intraplantar injection of P2X receptor agonist in rats: involvement of heteromeric P2X_{2/3} receptor signaling in capsaicin-insensitive primary afferent neurons. J. Neurosci. 20 (RC90), 1–5 published online.
- Ueno, S., Tsuda, M., Iwanaga, T., Inoue, K., 1999. Cell type-specific ATP-activated responses in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Br. J. Pharmacol. 126, 429–436.
- Valera, S., Hussy, N., Evans, R.J., Adani, N., North, R.A., Surprenant, A., Buell, G., 1994. A new class of ligand-gated ion channel defined by P2X receptor for extra-cellular ATP. Nature 371, 516–519.
- Virginio, C., Robertson, G., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., 1998. Trinitrophenyl-substituted nucleotides are potent antagonists selective for P2X₁, P2X₃, and heteromeric P2X_{2/3} receptors. Mol. Pharmacol. 53, 969–973.
- Virginio, C., MacKenzie, A., Rassendren, F.A., North, R.A., Surprenant, A., 1999. Pore dilation of neuronal P2X receptor channels. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 315–321.
- Vizi, E.S., Liang, S.D., Sperlágh, B., Kittel, A., Juranyi, Z., 1997. Studies on the release and extracellular metabolism of endogenous ATP in rat superior cervical ganglion: support for neurotransmitter role of ATP. Neuroscience 79, 893–903.
- Vlaskovska, M., Kasakov, L., Rong, W., Bodin, P., Bardini, M., Koch, B., Cockayne, D.A., Ford, A.P.D.W., Burnstock, G., 2001. P2X₃ knockout mice reveal a major sensory role for urothelially released ATP. J. Neurosci. (in press).
- Vulchanova, L., Arvidsson, U., Riedl, M., Wang, J., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., Elde, R., 1996. Differential distribution of two ATP-gated channels (P2X receptors) determined by imunocytochemistry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 8063–8067.
- Vulchanova, L., Arvidsson, U., Riedl, M., Wang, J., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., Elde, R., 1997. Imunocytochemical

study of the $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ receptor subunits in rat and monkey sensory neurons and their central terminals. Neuropharmacology 36, 1229–1242.

- Vulchanova, L., Riedl, M.S., Shuster, S.J., Stone, L.S., Hargreaves, K.M., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., North, R.A., Elde, R., 1998. P2X₃ is expressed by DRG neurons that terminate in inner lamina II. Eur. J. Neurosci. 10, 3470–3478.
- White, G., 1990. GABAA-receptor-activated current in dorsal root ganglion neurons freshly isolated from adult rats. J. Neurophysiol. 64, 57–63.
- Wildman, S.S., King, B.F., Burnstock, G., 1999. Modulation of ATP-responses at recombinant rP2X₄ receptors by extracellular pH and zinc. Br. J. Pharmacol. 126, 762–768.
- Wright, J.M., Li, C., 1995. Zn²⁺ potentiates steady-state ATP activated currents in rat nodose ganglion neurons by increasing the burst duration of a 35 pS channel. Neurosci. Lett. 193, 177–180.
- Xiang, Z., Bo, X., Burnstock, G., 1998. Localization of ATP-gated P2X receptor immunoreactivity in rat sensory and sympathetic ganglia. Neurosci. Lett. 256, 105–108.
- Yiangou, Y., Facer, P., Birch, R., Sangameswaran, L., Eglen, R., Anand, P., 2000. P2X₃ receptor in injured human sensory neurons. Neuroreport 11, 993–996.
- Zhang, M., Zhong, H., Vollmer, C., Nurse, C.A., 2000. Co-release of ATP and ACh mediates hypoxic signalling at rat carotid body chemoreceptors. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 525, 143–158.
- Zhong, Y., Dunn, P.M., Xiang, Z., Bo, X., Burnstock, G., 1998. Pharmacological and molecular characterisation of P2X purinoceptors in rat pelvic ganglion neurons. Br. J. Pharmacol. 125, 771–781.
- Zhong, Y., Dunn, P.M., Burnstock, G., 2000a. Guinea-pig sympathetic neurons express varying proportions of two distinct P2X receptors. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 523, 391–402.
- Zhong, Y., Dunn, P.M., Burnstock, G., 2000b. Pharmacological comparison of P2X receptors on rat coeliac, mouse coeliac and mouse pelvic ganglion neurons. Neuropharmacology 39, 172–180.
- Zhong, Y., Dunn, P.M., Burnstock, G., 2001. Multiple P2X receptors on guinea pig pelvic ganglion neurons exhibit novel pharmacological properties. Br. J. Pharmacol. 132, 221–233.
- Zhou, X., Galligan, J.J., 1996. P2X purinoceptors in cultured myenteric neurons of guinea-pig small intestine. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 496, 719–729.
- Zhou, X., Galligan, J.J., 1998. Non-additive interaction between nicotinic cholinergic and P2X purine receptors in guinea-pig enteric neurons in culture. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 513, 685–697.
- Zhu, Y., Ikeda, S.R., 1993. Adenosine modulates voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels in adult rat sympathetic neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 70, 610–620.